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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements that involve
substantial risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify these forward-looking statements by the
use of words such as “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate” or “continue.” Any statements that
refer to expectations, projections or other characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-
looking statements. Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations contain many such forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements involve risks,
uncertainties and situations that may cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements
to be different from what is anticipated or implied by those statements. The risk factors contained in this
report, as well as any other cautionary language in this report, describe risks, uncertainties and events that may
cause our actual results to differ from the expectations described or implied in our forward-looking statements.

3 c¢ 39 4¢

You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date
of this report. Except as required by law, we do not undertake to update or revise any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Interwoven, Inc. provides enterprise content management (“ECM”) software and services that enable
businesses to create, review, manage, distribute and archive critical business content, such as documents,
spreadsheets, e-mails and presentations, as well as Web images, graphics, content and applications code across
the enterprise and its value chain of customers, partners and suppliers. Our ECM platform consists of
integrated software product offerings, delivering customers end-to-end content lifecycle management includ-
ing collaboration, e-mail management, imaging, digital asset management, Web content management,
document management and records management. Customers have deployed our products for business
initiatives such as intranet management, marketing content management, collaborative portals, Web content
management, records management, deal management, matter-centric collaboration and content provisioning.
To date, more than 3,100 enterprises, law firms and professional services organizations worldwide have
licensed our software products.

We were incorporated in California in March 1995 and reincorporated in Delaware in October 1999. Our
principal office is located at 803 11th Avenue, Sunnyvale, California 94089 and our telephone number at that
location is (408) 774-2000. We maintain a Website at www.interwoven.com. Investors can obtain copies of
our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission from this site free of charge, as well as from the
Securities and Exchange Commission Website at www.sec.gov.

Interwoven Enterprise Content Management Platform, Services and Solutions

Our ECM platform consists of software components that are integrated with related services including
common security, single sign-on services, distribution intelligence and integration. The following components
comprise our core platform: collaboration, e-mail management, document management, Web content
management, digital asset management, imaging and records management. Qur ECM platform is architected
on a service-oriented architecture (“SOA™), enabling customers to integrate our products with their existing
infrastructures, including Java 2 (“J2EE”), Microsoft. NET and Linux environments.

The SOA-based platform enables us to deliver ECM solutions that are designed to solve critical
challenges for departments, enterprises or industries. These solutions, together with our technology partners,
unify people, content and processes to reduce business risks, accelerate time-to-value and sustain a lower total
cost of ownership. Our software solutions include unified electronic content management for accounting firms,
collaborative portals, collaborative document management for corporate legal departments, deal management,
e-mail management, enterprise content distribution, enterprise digital asset management, enterprise Web
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content management, extranet management, intranet management, matter-centric collaboration for law firms,
marketing content management, records management and content provisioning.

Products

Collaborative Document Management — WorkSite MP Server and WorkSite Server. These products
offer comprehensive collaborative document management functions including check-in/check-out, version
control, audit trails, archiving, categorization and full text and meta data search. Out-of-the box document
routing and approval enables simultaneous processing of documents. WorkSite provides geographically
dispersed teams with virtual workspaces in which they can securely share, discuss and collaborate on all facets
of a project quickly and efficiently — via intranet, extranet or the Internet.

E-mail Management — Interwoven’s e-mail management software and WorkSite Communications
Server Software. These products deliver a comprehensive approach to managing e-mail as a vital part of a
complete content management strategy. The products collectively capture e-mail correspondence in context
by subject and merge it with other relevant documents and content in a collaborative environment.

Imaging — Image Processing. This product enables users to convert paper, forms and fax documents to
digital format for on-going use in a collaborative context, combined with record retention, archival and
disposal. Qur Image Processing offering is central to automating core business processes such as accounts
payable, claims processing, legal document processing and contract management. We deliver these capabili-
ties to our customers through our relationships with scanning and image capture providers.

Enterprise Web Content Management — LiveSite Content Publishing Server, TeamSite Content Manage-
ment Server and TeamSite XML Server. LiveSite Content Publishing Server eliminates [T Web develop-
ment bottlenecks and empowers business professionals to rapidly and cost-effectively publish dynamic Web
sites, enabling organizations to improve communication, respond to changing market demands, support new
business initiatives and contain costs. TeamSite Content Management Server enables businesses to manage
content across internally and externally facing Web-based applications, such as enterprise portals, intranets,
self-service applications, public-facing Web Sites and extranets, enabling organizations to reduce cost, time to
Web and risks associated with all online initiatives. TeamSite XML Server provides XML component
management capabilities for advanced content reuse, enabling organizations to shorten content development
cycles, eliminate content redundancy and publish content in multiple formats for multiple channels and
audiences.

Digital Asset Management — MediaBin Asset Server. This product provides businesses with a full-
featured central library for the large numbers of digital assets they use to promote their products and brands.
With the MediaBin Asset Server, marketing teams can effectively catalog, manage, transform, search for,
repurpose and deploy digital assets, including photographs, rich graphics, marketing collateral, presentations,
documents and videos.

Records Management — Records Manager. This product offers a records management system that
organizes physical, electronic and e-mail records in a single integrated repository. Records Manager can
automatically archive business content and help enable our customers to comply with corporate record
retention policies and external regulations.

Content Distribution — OpenDeploy Distribution Server Software. This product automates the distribu-
tion of enterprise content and application code from multiple sources, such as content management and source
code management systems, to multiple targets, from a few production Web servers to an entire enterprise
network. OpenDeploy is also available for open platform content distribution.

Content Intelligence — MetaTagger Content Intelligence Server. This product provides enterprises with
a metadata management system to drive content relevance for initiatives like portals, enterprise search and
business applications. MetaTagger Content Intelligence Server integrates with any repository to process
enterprise information, including Web content, business documents, database records, syndicated feeds and
existing content archives. Built on a core set of computational linguistics algorithms, this product processes
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content in nearly any format and helps organizations make informed and accurate decisions about how to
classify content and what additional metadata to apply.

Connectors — TeamPortal Software. This product is a Web-services powered connector that enables
secure content and code access between our core ECM platform and enterprise portal applications.
TeamPortal Software ensures that team members throughout the enterprise can effectively collaborate, share
and manage knowledge through their chosen portal interface.

ECM Developers Suite — Interwoven Developer Suite. We provide developers with a set of tools that
assist with the development, customization and integration of applications with our content management
platform. The Developer Suite includes ContentService SDK, a Web services-based Application Program
Interface that supports implementation of our SOA and a developer server, which provides a separate
environment for testing new applications, customizations and upgrades.

Support and Service

Consulting. We offer professional services to our customers for the deployment of our software and the
integration of our applications with third-party software, as well as strategic consulting services. Our
professional services team works directly with our customers as well as with our resellers and strategic
partners. We have and continue to employ third-party subcontractors in the past to accommodate customer
demands in excess of the capacity of our in-house consulting organization or to provide consulting services in
locations where we have no permanent staff. Our consulting services are generally offered on a time and
materials basis.

Customer Support. Our customer support service is designed to allow customers to receive product
updates and quickly and effectively address technical issues as they arise. Our support personnel provide
resolution of customer technical inquiries and are available to customers by telephone, e-mail and through our
Website. We use a customer service automation system to track each customer inquiry through to satisfactory
resolution. Our technical support is generally offered on an annual subscription basis.

Training. We offer a comprehensive training curriculum for our customers, partners and system
integrators designed to provide the knowledge and skills to deploy, use and maintain our products successfully.
These training classes focus on the technical aspects of our products as well as related best practices and
business processes. We hold classes in various locations, including our training facilities in Sunnyvale,
California; Bethesda, Maryland; Chicago, Illinois and in Europe and Asia Pacific. We generally charge a daily
fee for such classes. Web-based training is also available at a price per online course.

Customers

Our software products and services are marketed and sold to a diverse group of customers operating in a
broad range of industries. Our customers include companies migrating their operations online, companies
looking to increase channel and partner effectiveness by establishing sales extranets and companies whose
objective is to deploy and manage critical business content within and across their organization. We believe
that our customers typically consider ECM applications to be critical to their success. As of December 31,
2004, more than 3,100 companies had licensed our software products. No single customer accounted for ten
percent or more of our total revenues in 2004, 2003 or 2002. Sales to customers in North America accounted
for 66%, 65% and 66% of our total revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. See Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sales and Marketing

We market and license our software products and services primarily through a direct sales force and we
augment our sales efforts through relationships with technology vendors, professional service firms, systems
integrators and other strategic partners. We have sales offices and maintain operations in Australia, Canada,
France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, India, Japan, the Netherlands, People’s Republic of China, Singapore,
South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Taiwan, the United Kingdom and in various locations throughout the United
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States. Reflecting our commitment to our international initiatives, we have introduced localized versions of
our software for several major European and Asia Pacific markets.

We have developed an indirect sales channel by establishing relationships with technology vendors,
professional services firms and systems integrators that recommend and, when appropriate, resell our products.
Several of our partners have also built add-on products to extend the functionality of our software. We believe
that our business is not substantially dependent on any one technology vendor, professional services firm or
system integrator. However, our relationships with these entities on the whole are critical to our success.

Our ability to grow revenue in future periods will depend in large part on how successfully we recruit,
train and retain sufficient direct sales, technical and customer support personnel, and our ability to establish
and maintain strategic relationships.

Research and Development

Since our inception, we have devoted significant resources to develop our products and technologies. We
believe that our future success will depend, in large part, on a strong development effort that enhances and
extends the features of our products. Our product development organization is responsible for product
architecture, core technology, quality assurance, documentation and expanding the ability of our products to
operate with leading hardware platforms, operating systems, database management systems and key electronic
commerce transaction processing standards. We currently have research and development operations in
Sunnyvale, California; Chicago, Illinois and Atlanta, Georgia. Also, in 2003, we established an operation in
Bangalore, India to perform quality assurance and development activities.

Our research and development expenditures were $30.8 million, $24.6 million and $26.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. All research and development expenditures have
been expensed as incurred. We expect to continue to devote substantial resources to our research and
development activities.

Acquisitions

In August 2004, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Software Intelligence, Inc.
(“Software Intelligence”), a provider of records management systems. The aggregate purchase price of this
acquisition was $1.6 million, which included issuance of 118,042 shares of our common stock with an
estimated fair value of $782,000, assumed liabilities of $693,000 and transaction costs of $136,000. The
purchase price may increase by up to $200,000 if specific software license revenue goals are achieved during a
period that ends on December 31, 2005, with such purchase price increase payable in shares of common stock.
The allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition included purchased technology of $1.2 million,
customer list of $303,000 and goodwill of $215,000 less the fair value of assumed liabilities of $84,000. The
results of operations of Software Intelligence have been included in our results of operations since August 12,
2004.

In November 2003, we completed the merger with iManage, Inc. (“iManage”), a provider of
collaborative document management software. In connection with this merger, we paid the iManage common
stockholders $1.20 in cash and 0.523575 shares of our common stock in exchange for each share of iManage
common stock outstanding as of the merger date. The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was
$181.7 million, which included cash of $30.6 million, issuance of 13.3 million shares of common stock with an
estimated fair value of $122.2 million, assumed stock options with a fair value of $18.9 million, estimated
employee severance and facilities closure costs of $5.8 million and transaction costs of $4.2 million. The results
of operations of iManage have been included in the consolidated results of operations of the Company since
November 18, 2003.

In June 2003, we acquired MediaBin, Inc. (“MediaBin™). MediaBin develops standards-based enterprise
brand management solutions to help companies manage, produce, share and deliver volumes of digital assets,
such as product photographs, advertisements, brochures, presentations, video clips and other marketing
collateral. The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was $12.9 million, which included cash of
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$4.2 million, issuance of 700,000 shares of common stock with an estimated fair value of $6.4 million, assumed
stock options with a fair value of $683,000, estimated employee severance costs of $775,000 and transaction
costs of $899,000. The results of operations of MediaBin have been included in the consolidated results of
operations of the Company since June 27, 2003.

Competition

The enterprise content management market is fragmented, rapidly changing and increasingly competi-
tive. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience increased competition from current and
potential competitors. Many of these competitors have greater name recognition, longer operating histories,
larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, sales, distribution and other
resources than we have. Our current competitors include:

» companies addressing needs of the market in which we compete such as EMC Corporation, FileNet
Corporation, Hummingbird Ltd., IBM, Microsoft Corporation, Xerox Corporation, Open Text Corpo-
ration, Stellent, Inc., Oracle Corporation and Vignette Corporation,;

« intranet and groupware companies, such as IBM, Microsoft Corporation and Novell, Inc.;
* in-house development efforts by our customers and partners; and
* various open source alternatives.

We also face potential competition from our strategic partners, or from other companies that may in the
future decide to compete in our market. Some of our existing and potential competitors have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and greater financial, technical and marketing
resources than we do. Many of these companies can also take advantage of extensive customer bases and
adopt aggressive pricing policies to gain market share. Potential competitors may bundle their products in a
manner that discourages users from purchasing our products. Barriers to entering the content management
software market are relatively low. Competitive pressures may also increase with the consolidation of
competitors within our market and partners in our distribution channel, such as the acquisition of Documen-
tum, Inc. by EMC Corporation, Presence Online Pty Ltd. by IBM, Optika, Inc. by Stellent, Inc., Artesia
Technologies, Inc. by Open Text Corporation and TOWER Technology Pty Ltd. and Epicentric, Inc. by
Vignette Corporation.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in the market for ECM solutions are:

» breadth of the enterprise content management solution;

+ product functionality and features;

+ coverage of sales force and distribution channel;

+ availability of global support;

 quality and depth of integration of the individual software modules across the full ECM suite;
» ease and speed of product implementation;

 hardware implications and the total cost of ownership required to deploy ECM solutions;
+ financial condition of vendors;

« vendor and product reputation;

+ ability of products to support large numbers of concurrent users;

* price;

* security;

« interoperability with established software;




e scalability; and
+ ease of access and use.

Although we believe that we compete favorably with respect to many of the above factors, our market is
rapidly evolving. We may not be able to maintain our competitive position against current and potential
competitors.

Seasonality

Our business is influenced by seasonal factors, largely due to customer buying patterns. In recent years,
we have generally had weaker demand for our software products and services in the first and third quarters.
Our consulting and training services are negatively impacted in the fourth quarter due to the holiday season,
which results in fewer billable hours for our consultants and fewer training classes.

Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Rights

Our success depends in part on the development and protection of the proprietary aspects of our
technology as well as our ability to operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others. To protect our
technology, we rely primarily on patent, trademark, service mark, trade secret and copyright laws and
contractual restrictions.

We require our customers to enter into license agreements that impose restrictions on their ability to
reproduce, distribute and use our software. In addition, we seek to avoid disclosure of our trade secrets through
a number of means, including restricting access to our source code and object code and requiring those entities
and persons with access to agree to confidentiality terms that restrict their use and disclosure. We seek to
protect our software, documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws, which
afford only limited protection.

We currently have 31 issued United States patents and 41 issued foreign patents. These patents have
remaining lives ranging from 2 to 16 years, with an average remaining life of 9 years. We also have applied for
8 other patents in the United States and we have 35 pending foreign patent applications. It is possible that no
patents will be issued from our currently pending patent applications and that our existing patents may be
found to be invalid or unenforceable, or may be successfully challenged. It is also possible that any patent
issued to us may not provide us with competitive advantages or that we may not develop future proprietary
products or technologies that are patentable. Additionally, we have not performed a comprehensive analysis of
the patents of others that may limit our ability to do business. While our patents are an important element of
our success, our business as a whole is not materially dependent on any one patent or on the combination of all
of our patents.

We rely on software licensed from third parties, including software that is integrated with internally
developed software. These software license agreements expire on various dates from 2005 to 2009 and the
majority of these agreements are renewable with written consent of the parties. Either party may terminate the
agreement for cause before the expiration date with written notice. If we cannot renew these licenses,
shipments of our products could be delayed until equivalent software could be developed or licensed and
integrated into our products. These types of delays could seriously harm our business. In addition, we would be
seriously harmed if the providers from whom we license our software ceased to deliver and support reliable
products, enhance their current products or respond to emerging industry standards. Moreover, the third-party
software may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights and technology, unauthorized parties may attempt to
copy aspects of our products or obtain the source code to our software or use other information that we regard
as proprietary or could develop software competitive to ours. Policing unauthorized use of our products is
difficult, and while we are unable to determine the extent to which piracy of our software exists, software
piracy may become a problem. Our means of protecting our proprietary rights may not be adequate. Litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend against claims of infringement
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or invalidity. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

QOur competitors, some of which have substantially greater resources and have made substantial
investments in competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained, or may in the future apply for and
obtain, patents that will prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with our ability to make and license our products.
We have not conducted an independent review of patents issued to third parties. It is possible that one or more
third parties may make claims of infringement or misappropriation against us or third parties from whom we
license technology. In fact, on August 6, 2004, Advanced Software, Inc, filed suit against us in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of California alleging that our TeamSite software infringes
Advanced Software’s United States Patent No. Re. 35,861. Any claim or any other claims, with or without
merit, could be costly and time-consuming to defend, cause us to cease making, licensing or using products
that incorporate the challenged intellectual property, require us to redesign or reengineer our products, if
feasible, divert our management’s attention or resources, or cause product delays. If our product was found to
infringe a third party’s proprietary rights, we could be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to
be able to sell our products. Royalty and licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms
acceptable to us, if at all. A successful claim of infringement or misappropriation against us or third-party
licensors in connection with the use of our technology could adversely affect our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we employed 696 people, including 228 in sales and marketing, 205 in research
and development, 180 in support and professional services and 83 in general and administrative functions. Of
our employees, 525 were located in North America, 101 were located in the Asia Pacific region and 70 were
located in Europe. Our future success depends in part on our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified
personnel. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, other than statutory unions required by
law in certain European countries. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relations
with our employees to be good.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal offices are located in a leased facility in Sunnyvale, California and consist of approximately
130,000 square feet that will expire in July 2007. We also occupy other leased facilities in the United States,
Europe, Asia Pacific, Australia and Canada under leases totaling approximately 201,000 square feet that
expire at various times through July 2016.

We believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our current needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Beginning in 2001, Interwoven, Inc. and certain of our officers and directors and certain investment
banking firms, were separately named as defendants in a securities class-action lawsuit filed in the United
States District Court Southern District of New York, which was subsequently consolidated with more than
300 substantially identical proceedings against other companies. Similar suits were filed against iManage, Inc.,
its directors and certain of its officers. The consolidated complaint asserts that the prospectuses for our
October 8, 1999 initial public offering, our January 26, 2000 follow-on public offering and iManage’s
November 17, 1999 initial public offering, failed to disclose certain alleged actions by the underwriters for the
offerings. In addition, the consolidated complaint alleges claims under Section 11 and 15 of the Securities Act
of 1933 against iManage and us and certain of iManage’s and our officers and directors. The plaintiff seeks
damages in an unspecified amount. In June 2003, following the dismissal of iManage’s and our respective
officers and directors from the litigation without prejudice and after several months of negotiation, the
plaintiffs named in the consolidated complaint and iManage and Interwoven, together with the other issuers
named in those complaints and their respective insurance carriers, agreed to settle the litigation and dispose of
any remaining claims against the issuers named in the consolidated complaint, in each case without admitting
any wrongdoing. As part of this settlement, iManage’s and our respective insurance carriers have agreed to
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assume iManage’s and our entire payment obligation under the terms of the settlement. This settlement has
been preliminarily approved by the District Court and will be presented to members of the putative plaintiff
classes in the coming months. We cannot be reasonably assured, however, that the settlement will be approved
by the putative plaintiff classes or finally approved the District Court.

On August 6, 2004, Advanced Software, Inc. filed svit against us in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California alleging that our TeamSite software infringes Advanced Software’s United
States Patent No. Re. 35,861. Advanced Software, Inc. seeks damages in an unspecified amount. We believe
that the claim is without merit and intend to vigorously contest this matter. However, intellectual property
litigation is inherently uncertain and, regardless of the ultimate outcome, could be costly and time-consuming
to defend, cause us to cease making, licensing or using products that incorporate the challenged intellectual
property, require us to redesign or reengineer our products, if feasible, divert management’s attention or
resources, or cause product delays, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to obtain the
right to use a necessary product, component or process; any of which could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial condition and results of operation. Discovery is still in its preliminary stages. Trial has
been set for April 17, 2006.

We are a party to other threatened legal action and employment-related lawsuits arising from the normal
course of business activities. In our opinion, resolution of these matters is not expected to have a material
adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position. However, an unfavorable
resolution of a matter could materially affect our consolidated results of operations or financial position in a
particular period.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “IWOV”.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for our common
stock for the last eight quarters, all as reported on the NASDAQ National Market. The prices included below
have been adjusted to give retroactive effect to all stock splits that have occurred since our inception.

_High ~_Low

Year ended December 31, 2004:
Fourth QUarter ........ ...ttt i e $11.30 $ 7.22
Third QUAITET . ...t e $10.06 $ 6.40
Second QUATTET . . ..ottt e e $11.42 $ 8.04
FarSt QUATIET ottt $1545 $ 9.51

Year ended December 31, 2003:
Fourth qUarter .. ........ounrttti it $17.80  $10.56
Third QUAITET .. ...ttt et s $13.24 $ 7.80
Second QUArter . ... ... $11.40 § 592
FITSt QUATIET . .o e it e e $13.76 $ 7.20




Holders of Record

The approximate number of holders of record of the shares of our common stock was 445 as of March 3,
2005. This number does not include stockholders whose shares are held by other entities. The actual number
of holders is greater than the number of holders of record.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock since our incorporation. We
currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our business and, therefore, do not anticipate paying
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in
conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, and Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The selected consolidated
statements of operations data and consolidated balance sheet data as of and for each of the five years in the
period ended, and as of December 31, 2004, have been derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements. All share and per share amounts have been adjusted to give retroactive effect to stock splits that
have occurred since our inception.

) Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Selected Consolidated Statements
of Operations Data:

Total revenues .. ............. $160,388  $111,512 $ 126,832 $ 204,633  $133,603
Gross profit ................. $108,628 $ 73,868 $ 84,230 $ 139,787 $ 92,488
Loss from operations ......... $(24,406) $(49,861) $(153,497) $(136,215) $(43,500)
NEt10SS o vveenseennnnn $(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616) $(129,175) $(32,055)
Basic and diluted net loss per

common share ............. $ (058) $ (1.72) § (580) $ (517) § (l.40)

Shares used in computing basic
and diluted net loss per

common share ............. 40,494 27,585 25,607 24,985 22,995
December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands)

Selected Consolidated Balance
Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-

term investments............. $133,757 $140,487 $181,669  $219,968  $222,284
Working capital . ............... $ 85,474 $ 94401 $147,445 $186,999  $199,484
Total assets ................... $393,776  $421,825 $298,657 $438,110 $524,209
Bank borrowings ,.............. $ — $ 1213 % — 5 — 3 —
Total stockholders’ equity ....... $288,622  $300,934  $203,725  $352,005 $454,351




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We provide enterprise content management software and services that enable businesses to create,
review, manage, distribute and archive business content, such as documents, spreadsheets, e-mails and
presentations, as well as Web images, graphics, content and applications code, across the enterprise and its
value chain of customers, partners and suppliers. Our ECM platform consists of integrated software product
offerings, delivering customers end-to-end content lifecycle management including collaboration, e-mail
management, imaging, digital asset management, Web content management, document management and
records management. Customers have deployed our products for business initiatives such as Web content
management, intranet management, marketing content management, collaborative portals, records manage-
ment, deal management, matter-centric collaboration and content provisioning. To date, more than 3,100
enterprises, law firms and professional services organizations worldwide have licensed our software products.
We market and license our software products and services primarily through a direct sales force and augment
our sales, marketing and service efforts through relationships with technology vendors, professional service
firms, systems integrators and other strategic partners. Our revenues to date have been derived primarily from
accounts in North America; revenues from outside of North America accounted for 34% of our total revenues
in 2004. We had 696 employees as of December 31, 2004,

In August 2004, we completed the acquisition of certain assets of Software Intelligence. In November
2003, we completed our merger with iManage and, in June 2003, we completed the acquisition of MediaBin.
The results of operations of these business combinations have been included prospectively from the closing
dates of these transactions through year-end. Accordingly, our financial results are not directly comparable to
those of the previous periods. In particular, our consolidated results for 2003 include revenues and expenses for
iManage for only one month and the results of MediaBin for six months, while the consolidated results for
2004 include such revenues and expenses for these operations a full year. On November 18, 2003, we effected
a one-for-four reverse stock split. All share and per share information included in these consolidated financial
statements has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split.

Results of Operations

In 2002, our business was impacted by a sharp decline in customer spending on information technology
initiatives both domestically and internationally and the information technology spending environment has
remained weak throughout 2003 and 2004. Our revenues were further affected by a shift away from spending
on public-facing Web applications, such as our TeamSite product, to internal productivity enhancing
applications. As a result of these factors, our revenues declined 12% from 2002 to 2003. In response, we
initiated and completed a series of strategic actions designed to expand our product offerings. During 2003, we
acquired MediaBin and iManage to extend our product offerings into digital asset management and
collaborative document management, thereby creating product offerings that we believe address a larger
market opportunity. As a result of these actions, our revenues increased 44% from 2003 to 2004. These
business combinations also allowed us to achieve economies of scale in our sales, marketing, development and
administrative functions. We also completed a series of restructuring actions to help align our cost structure
with expected revenues. These restructuring actions included staff reductions in all functional areas of our
business, decreases in marketing and promotional spending and the abandonment of certain facilities in excess
of current and expected future needs.
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Revenues

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)

License ...................... $ 67,341 $ 45936 $ 57,309 47% (20)%
Percentage of total revenues. . . 42% 41% 45%

Support and service ... ......... 93,047 65,576 69,523 42% (6)%
Percentage of total revenues 58% 59% 55%

| $160,388  $111,512  $126,832 44% (12)%

Total revenues increased 44% from $111.5 million in 2003 to $160.4 million in 2004. We believe this
increase was primarily attributable to sales of the WorkSite product, which we acquired in November 2003 as
part of our merger with iManage, and the digital asset management products, which we acquired in June 2003
as part of our acquisition of MediaBin. Total revenues decreased 12% from $126.8 million in 2002 to
$111.5 million in 2003. We believe this decrease was attributable to a worldwide slowdown in spending on
information technology initiatives, particularly public-facing Web applications, which began in late 2001 and
is ongoing. Our average license transaction size for sales in excess of $50,000 was $170,000, $153,000 and
$178,000 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Sales outside of the United States of America represented 34%,
36% and 34% of our total revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We expect that reduced spending on
information technology initiatives will continue to adversely affect our business for the foreseeable future and,
to the extent that any improvement occurs, such an improvement may not be sustained.

License. License revenues increased 47% from $45.9 million in 2003 to $67.3 million in 2004, We
believe this increase was primarily attributable to license revenues from the WorkSite product that we
acquired in November 2003 and the digital asset management products that we acquired in June 2003.
License revenues decreased 20% from $57.3 million in 2002 to $45.9 million in 2003. We believe this decrease
was attributable to weak economic conditions worldwide, resulting in reduced spending on information
technology initiatives and a shift away from spending on public-facing Web applications like our TeamSite
product. This decline was partially offset by license revenues from sales of the digital asset management
products we acquired in June 2003. License revenues represented 42%, 41% and 45% of total revenues in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Support and Service. Support and service revenues increased 42% from $65.6 million in 2003 to
$93.0 million in 2004. We believe this increase was primarily attributable to the acquisitions of iManage and
MediaBin, which provided a greater opportunity for consulting services and a larger installed base of
customers purchasing support services. Support and service revenues decreased 6% from $69.5 million in 2002
to $65.6 million in 2003. We believe this decrease was primarily attributable to fewer customer engagements
as a result of declining license transactions, as well as price competition from third-party system integrators for
consulting services and shorter implementations due to the improved product design.

To the extent that our license revenues decline in the future, our support and service revenues may also
decline. Specifically, a decline in license revenues may result in fewer consulting engagements. Additionally,
since customer support contracts are generally sold with each license transaction, a decline in license revenues
may also result in a decline in customer support revenues. However, since customer support revenues are
recognized over the duration of the support contract, the impact will lag a decline in license revenues.
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Cost of Revenues

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Cost of license revenues ........... $13,336 $ 5,368 $ 3,283 148% 64%
Percentage of license revenues. . .. 20% 12% 6%
Percentage of total revenues. ... .. 8% 5% 3%
Cost of support and service revenues 38,424 32,276 39,319 19% (18)%
Percentage of support and service A
TEVENUES ..o .vveinneene .. 41% 49% 57%
Percentage of total revenues. .. ... 24% 29% 31%
$51,760  $37,644  $42,602 37% (12)%

License. Cost of license revenues includes expenses incurred to manufacture, package and distribute our
software products and documentation, as well as costs of licensing third-party software embedded in or sold
with our software products and amortization of purchased technology associated with business combinations.
Cost of license revenues represented 20%, 12% and 6% of total license revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The increase in cost of license revenues as a percentage of license revenues and in absolute
dollars from 2003 to 2004 was mainly due to the $8.7 million increase in amortization of purchased technology
associated with our business combinations. The increases in cost of license revenues in absolute dollars and as
a percentage of total revenues from 2002 to 2003 were attributable to an increase in royalties due to third
parties, including royalties paid to iManage of $1.2 million prior to the merger, and a $2.0 million increase in
amortization of purchased technology.

Based only on acquisitions completed through the 2004 year end, we expect the amortization of
purchased technology classified as a cost of license revenues to be $10.9 million in 2005, $9.7 million in 2006
and $762,000 in 2007. We expect cost of license revenues as a percentage of license revenues to vary from
period to period depending on the mix of products sold, the extent to which third-party software products are
bundled with our products and the amount of overall license revenues, as many of the third-party software
products embedded with our software are under fixed-fee arrangements.

Support and Service. Cost of support and service revenues consists of salary and personnel-related
expenses for our consulting, training and support personnel, costs associated with product updates to
customers under active support contracts, subcontractor expenses and depreciation of equipment used in our
services and customer support operation. Cost of support and service revenues increased 19% to $38.4 million
in 2004 from $32.3 million in 2003, and decreased 18% to $32.3 million in 2003 from $39.3 million in 2002.
The increase in cost of support and service revenues from 2003 to 2004 was due primarily to higher
subcontractor costs of $3.7 million and higher personnel costs of $2.7 million as a result of the acquisitions of
iManage and MediaBin. The decrease in cost of support and service revenues from 2002 to 2003 was due
primarily to lower personnel costs of $3.9 million and lower travel costs of $1.5 million. Cost of support and
service revenues represented 41%, 49% and 57% of support and service revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The decrease in cost of support and service revenues as a percentage of related revenues was
primarily attributable to an increase in support revenues as a percentage of total support and service revenues,
as support revenues generally have higher gross margins than consulting services and training. Support and
service headcount was 180, 176 and 171 at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Since our support and service revenues have lower gross margins than our license revenues, our overall
gross margins typically decline if our support and service revenues increase as a percent of total revenues. We
expect cost of support and service revenues as a percentage of support and service revenues to vary from period
to period, depending in part on whether the services are performed by our in-house staff or subcontractors.
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Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Sales and marketing .............. $70,824  $57,959  $73,712 22% 2D %
Percentage of total revenues...... 44% 52% 58%

Sales and marketing expenses consist of salaries, commissions, benefits and related costs for sales and
marketing personnel, travel and marketing programs, including customer conferences, promotional materials,
trade shows and advertising. Sales and marketing expenses increased 22% from $58.0 million in 2003 to
$70.8 million in 2004. This increase was due primarily to $6.1 million in higher commissions as a result of
higher revenues, $5.6 million increase in personnel costs, and a $1.1 million in increased promotional expenses.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased 21% from $73.7 million in 2002 to $58.0 million in 2003. This
decrease was due primarily to a $7.1 million reduction in personnel costs as a result of lower average
headcount in the period, $1.9 million in lower commissions as a result of lower revenues and a $2.0 million
reduction in promotional expenses. As a percentage of total revenues, sales and marketing expenses
represented 44%, 52% and 58% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease in sales and marketing
expense as a percentage of total revenues from 2003 to 2004 was due primarily to economies of scale
associated with our business combinations, while the decrease from 2002 to 2003 was due primarily to cost
contro] efforts. Sales and marketing headcount was 228, 239 and 226 at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

We anticipate that sales and marketing expenses, as a percentage of total revenues, will decrease slightly
in 2005 from levels posted in 2004 due to expected economies of scale as a result of revenue growth. We
expect that the percentage of total revenues represented by sales and marketing expenses will fluctuate from
period to period due to the timing of hiring of new sales and marketing personnel, our spending on marketing
programs and the level of revenues, in particular license revenues, in each period.

Research and Development

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Research and development......... $30,825  $24,613  $26,599 25% (1%
Percentage of total revenues. . . ... 19% 22% 21%

Research and development expenses consist of salaries and benefits, third-party contractors, facilities and
related overhead costs associated with our product development and quality assurance activities. Research and
development expenses increased 25% from $24.6 million in 2003 to $30.8 million in 2004. This increase was
primarily due to higher personnel costs of $4.2 million, a $1.4 million increase in facilities expense and a
$491,000 increase in third-party contractor costs. Research and development expenses decreased 7% from
$26.6 million in 2002 to $24.6 million in 2003. This decrease was primarily due to a $1.8 million decline in
personnel costs associated with headcount reductions. As a percentage of total revenues, research and
development expenses were 19%, 22% and 21% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Research and
development headcount was 205, 199 and 133 at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
increase in headcount in 2003 over 2002 was primarily due to our acquisition of iManage. We expect research
and development expenses in 2005 will decline slightly as a percentage of total revenues when compared to
2004 as we continue to manage our expenses and realize greater cost efficiencies in our product development
activities.
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General and Administrative

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative......... $12,080 $12,474  $14,299 (3)% (13)%
Percentage of total revenues...... 8% 11% 11%

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related costs for general corporate functions
including finance, accounting, human resources, legal and information technology. General and administrative
expenses decreased $394,000 or 3% from $12.5 million in 2003 to $12.1 million in 2004. This decrease was
primarily due to lower personnel costs partially offset by higher facilities costs. General and administrative
expenses decreased 13% from $14.3 million in 2002 to $12.5 million in 2003. This decrease was primarily due
to a $1.8 million decline in personnel costs and a $900,000 reduction in the provision for doubtful accounts. As
a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expense was 8%, 11% and 11% in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The decrease in general and administrative expense as a percentage of total revenues from
2003 to 2004 was due primarily to cost savings synergies associated with our business combinations and cost
control efforts. General and administrative headcount was 83, 82 and 78 at December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. We expect general and administrative expenses to decline slightly as a percentage of total
revenues in 2005 when compared to 2004 due to continued cost control efforts and economies of scale.

Amortization of Stock-Based Compensation

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)

Amortization of stock-based
compensation ................ ..., $4,982  $2,348  $4,880 112% (52)%

Percentage of total revenues......... 3% 2% 4%

We recorded deferred stock-based compensation in connection with stock options granted prior to our
initial public offering and in connection with stock options granted and assumed in our business combinations.
Amortization of stock-based compensation was $5.0 million, $2.3 million and $4.9 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The increase in amortization of stock-based compensation in 2004 from 2003 was due to
the assumption of stock options in the merger with iManage, while the decrease in 2003 from 2002 was
primarily attributable to the use of the accelerated method of amortizing deferred stock-based compensation
expense, as prescribed by Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 28, Accounting
Jor Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans (An Interpretation of APB
Opinions No. 15 and 25), which has resulted in greater recognition of amortization expense in the beginning of
the vesting period for such options. Amortization of stock-based compensation related to the following
expense categories in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Cost of support and SErvice revenues ................c.veeeunnnn, $ 319 $ 57 $ 118
Sales and marketing .. ....... .. ... . . 1,708 957 2,872
Research and development ........ ... .. ... ... . ... ... 1,049 1,157 1,632
General and administrative ......... ... .. . i 1,906 177 258

$4,982  $2,348  $4,880

During 2002, we recognized restructuring costs of $1.6 million associated with accelerated vesting of
stock awards for terminated employees. This amount was included as a component of restructuring and excess
facilities charges in our consolidated statements of operations.
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In December 2003, we issued options to our Chief Executive Officer to purchase 500,000 shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $9.56 per share, which was below the fair value of our common stock on
the date of grant. In accordance with the requirements of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”)
No. 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, we recorded deferred stock-based compensation of
$1.9 million for the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of our
common stock on the date of grant. This deferred stock-based compensation will be amortized to expense over
the four-year vesting period of the stock options using an accelerated approach consistent with the method
described in FIN No. 28.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 123R which requires the measurement of all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair-value-based method and the recording of
compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations. SFAS No. 23R supersedes APB No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,and its related implementation guidance. The accounting provisions
of SFAS No. 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. We are currently
assessing the impact of SFAS No. 123R. As we have 10.9 million stock options outstanding at December 31,
2004, we expect the adoption to have a significant adverse impact on our consolidated statements of
operations. .

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Amortization of intangible assets....... $4,541  $2,348  $3,722 93% (37)%
Percentage of total revenues......... 3% 2% 3%

Amortization of intangible assets was $4.5 million, $2.3 million and $3.7 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, and consists of amortization expense related to customer lists and assembled workforce. The
increase in amortization of intangible assets from 2003 to 2004 was primarily the result of our merger with
iManage in November 2003. Based on business combinations completed through December 31, 2004, we
expect amortization of intangible assets to be $3.2 million in 2005, $2.9 million in 2006, $2.5 million in 2007
and $47,000 in 2008. We may incur additional amortization expense beyond these expected future levels to the
extent we make additional acquisitions.

In-Process Research and Development

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)

In-process research and
development.............. $ — $5174 % —_ *% *o

Percentage of total revenues —% 5% —%

* Percentage is not meaningful

In 2003, in conjunction with our business combinations, we recorded in-process research and develop-
ment charges of $599,000 related to the acquisition of MediaBin and $4.6 million related to the merger with
iManage. These in-process research and development charges were associated with software development
efforts in process at the time of the business combinations that had not yet achieved technological feasibility
and no future alternative uses had been identified. The purchase price allocated to in-process research and
development was determined, in part, by a third-party appraiser through established valuation techniques. We
may incur in-process research and development expense in the future to the extent we make additional
acquisitions.
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Restructuring and Excess Facilities Charges

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)

Restructuring and excess facilities
charges .......oooiviiiin.. $9,782  $18,813  $38,084 (48)% (51)%

Percentage of total revenues....... 6% 17% 30%

In 2002, we implemented restructuring plans in an effort to better align our expenses with our revenues.
We recorded charges of $8.1 million associated with workforce reductions and $25.3 million: associated with
the abandonment of excess facilities and impairment of operating equipment and leasehold improvements at
these facilities. Additionally, due to the continued deterioration of the commercial real eéstate market, we
revised our assumptions of future sublease income for facilities abandoned in 2001 and recorded an additional
$4.7 million in charges to reflect this change in estimate.

During 2003, we implemented additional restructuring plans, performed an evaluation of our facilities
requirements and re-evaluated previously recorded excess facilities accruals. As a result, we recorded charges
of $5.7 million associated with workforce reductions and $10.3 million associated with the abandonment of
excess facilities. In addition, we further revised our estimates of future sublease income for facilities previously
abandoned and recorded an additional $2.8 million in charges as a result of changes in our estimates.

In 2004, we entered into agreements to terminate excess facilities in Chicago, Illinois and Sunnyvale,
California, revised our sublease assumptions associated with certain excess facilities and restructured certain
of our European operations and our professional services organization. As a result of these actions, we
recorded charges of $8.1 million associated with excess facilities and $1.7 million related to workforce
reductions, which included the termination of 28 employees.

The charges recorded for excess facilities were based on the payments due over the remainder of the lease
term and estimated operating costs offset by our estimate of future sublease income. Accordingly, our estimate
of excess facilities costs may differ from actual results and such differences may result in additional charges
that could materially affect our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Impairment of Goodwill

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 ¢o 2003
(In thousands, except percentages) '
Impairment of goodwill.......... $ — 3 —  $76,431 —% *%
Percentage of total revenues. . .. —% —% 60%

* Percentage is not meaningful

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, we performed an annual
impairment test of our recorded goodwill and other identified intangible assets in the third quarter of 2002.
Upon the completion of this analysis, we determined that an impairment of goodwill had occurred as a result
of a decrease in our market capitalization and due to a decline in our business performance. Accordingly, we
recorded an impairment charge of $76.4 million in 2002 reflecting the write-down of the carrying value of
goodwill to its estimated fair value. We performed similar impairment tests during the third quarter of 2004
and 2003 and determined that the carrying value of our goodwill and other identified intangible assets had not
been further impaired. ‘
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Interest Income and Other, Net

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Interest income and other, net......... $1,725 $3,401 $5,958 (49)% (43)%
Percentage of total revenues......... 1% 3% 5%

Interest income and other is composed of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments,
foreign exchange transaction gains and losses and, to a lesser degree, interest expense. Interest income and
other was $1.7 million, $3.4 million and $6.0 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Interest income and
other decreased $1.7 million, or 49% in 2004 from 2003 and $2.6 million, or 43%, in 2003 from 2002. The
decreases were due to lower interest rates on our cash and investments and a lower average balance of cash,
cash equivalents and investments during each successive period.

Provision for Income Taxes

Years Ended December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 20604 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)
Provision for income taxes.............. $986  $1,071  $1,077 (8)% ()%
Percentage of total revenues .......... 1% 1% 1%

The provision for income taxes recorded in 2004, 2003 and 2002 related principally to state and foreign
taxes. As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately $254.0 million of federal and $63.1 million of state net
operating loss carry forwards to offset future taxable income. The federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards are available to reduce future taxable income and will begin to expire in 2008 through 2024 and
2005 through 2014. Management periodically evaluates the recoverability of the deferred tax assets and
recognizes the tax benefit only as reassessment demonstrates that these assets are realizable. Currently, it is
determined that it is not likely that the assets will be realized. Therefore, we have recorded a full valuation
allowance against the deferred income tax assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

December 31, Percentage Change
2004 2003 2002 2003 to 2004 2002 to 2003
(In thousands, except percentages)

Cash, cash equivalents and

short-term investments ....... $133,757  $140,487 $181,669 (5)% (23)%
Working capital ............... $ 85474 § 94,401 $147.445 (9% (36)%
Stockholders’ equity ........... $288,622  $300,934  $203,725 ()% 47%

Our primary sources of cash are the collection of accounts receivable from our customers, proceeds from
the exercise of stock options and stock purchased under our employee stock purchase plan. Our uses of cash
include payroll and payroll-related expenses and operating expenses such as marketing programs, travel,
professional services and facilities and related costs. We have also used cash to purchase property and
equipment, reduce our future payments due on excess facilities and acquire businesses and technologies to
expand our product offerings.

A number of non-cash items were charged to expense and increased our net loss in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. These items include depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and intangible
assets, impairment of goodwill, in-process research and development and amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation. The extent to which these non-cash items increase or decrease in amount and increase or
decrease our future operating results will have no corresponding impact on our operating cash flows.

Cash used in operating activities in 2004 was $7.2 million, representing an improvement of $25.6 million
from 2003. This improvement primarily resulted from our net loss, after adjusting for non-cash expenses, and

17




payments to reduce our restructuring and excess facilities accrual offset by cash collections against accounts
receivable and an increase in deferred revenues. Payments made to reduce our excess facilities obligations
totaled $26.6 million and included scheduled lease payments on excess facilities and cash paid to terminate a
portion of our headquarters lease and a lease in Chicago, Illinois. Our days sales outstanding in accounts
receivable (“days outstanding”) decreased from 111 days at December 31, 2003 to 60 days at December 31,
2004. Days outstanding at December 31, 2003 were primarily impacted by the acquisition of accounts
receivable from iManage and an increase in customer support billings resulting from our merger with
iManage, which added to our outstanding accounts receivable. Deferred revenues increased primarily due to
increased customer support contracts.

Cash used in operating activities in 2003 was $32.8 million, representing an increase of $1.7 million from
2002. This increase primarily resulted from our net loss, after adjusting for non-cash expenses, an increase in
accounts receivable and payments against accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Cash used in operating
activities was offset by an increase in deferred revenues and the accrual for restructuring and excess facilities.
Our days outstanding increased to 111 days at December 31, 2003 from 64 days at December 31, 2002. The
increase in days outstanding was due to the merger with iManage which occurred in November 2003.
Deferred revenues increased due to increased customer support contracts in large part resulting from the
iManage merger. The increase in the restructuring and excess facilities accrual resulted from the abandon-
ment of properties associated with the iManage merger and the re-evaluation of sublease prospects for our
excess facilities.

Cash used in operating activities in 2002 was $31.1 million and primarily resulted from our net loss, after
adjusting for non-cash depreciation and amortization expenses, the impairment of goodwill and payments
against accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Cash used in operating activities was offset by a decrease in
accounts receivable and an increase in the restructuring and excess facilities accrual.

We have classified our investment portfolio as “available for sale,” and our investments objectives are to
preserve principal and provide liquidity while at the same time maximizing yields without significantly
increasing risk. We may sell an investment at any time if the quality rating of the investment declines, the
yield on the investment is no longer attractive or we are in need of cash. Because we invest only in investment
securities that are highly liquid with a ready market, we believe that the purchase maturity or sale of our
investments has no material impact on our overall liquidity.

We anticipate that we will continue to purchase property and equipment necessary in the normal course
of our business. The amount and timing of these purchases and the related cash outflows in future periods is
difficult to predict and is dependent on a number of factors including the hiring of employees, the rate of
change of computer hardware and software used in our business and our business outlook.

We have used cash to acquire businesses and technologies that enhance and expand our product offerings
and we anticipate that we will continue to do so in the future, although we are not currently a party to any
contracts or letters of intent with respect to any acquisitions. The nature of these transactions makes it difficult
to predict the amount and timing of such cash requirements. We may also be required to raise additional
financing to complete future acquisitions.

We receive cash from the exercise of common stock options and the sale of common stock under our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan. While we expect to continue to receive these proceeds in future periods, the
timing and amount of such proceeds is difficult to predict and is contingent on a number of factors including
the price of our common stock, the number of employees participating in our stock option plans and our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and general market conditions.

Bank Borrowings. We have a $16.0 million line of credit available to us at December 31, 2004, which is
secured by cash, cash equivalents and investments. The line of credit bears interest at the lower of 1% below
the bank’s prime rate adjusted from time to time or a fixed rate of 1.5% above the LIBOR in effect on the first
day of the term. This line of credit agreement expires in July 2005 and is primarily used as collateral for letters
of credit required by our facilities leases. There were no outstanding borrowings under this line of credit as of
December 31, 2004. There are no financial covenant requirements under our line of credit.
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In connection with the iManage merger, we assumed a term loan with a bank secured by certain of our
property and equipment. The term loan was paid in full in December 2004.

Facilities. We lease our facilities under operating lease agreements that expire at various dates through
2016. As of December 31, 2004, minimum cash payments due under our operating lease obligations totaled
$54.0 million. The following presents our prospective future lease payments under these agreements as of
December 31, 2004 excluding our estimate of potential sublease income (in thousands):

Future

Occupied Excess Lease
Years Ending December 31, Facilities Facilities Payments
2008 o e e $ 9251 §$ 7815 $17,066
2006 .. e e 8,349 7,332 15,681
2007 e e 4,932 5,498 10,430
2008 ..\ 736 1,991 2,727
2000 L e e 691 1,258 1,949

Thereafter ... v 5,091 1,049 6,140
' $29,050 $24,943  $53,993

Of these future minimum lease payments, we have accrued $25.0 million in the restructuring and excess
facilities accrual at December 31, 2004. This accrual includes estimated operating expenses of $3.9 million
associated with excess facilities and sublease commencement costs and is net of estimated sublease income of
$3.3 million and the impact of discounting of $483,000. In relation to our excess facilities, we may decide to
negotiate and enter into lease termination agreements, if and when the circumstances are appropriate. These
lease termination agreements would likely require a significant amount of future lease payments to be paid at
the time of execution of the agreement, but would release us from future lease payment obligations for the
abandoned facility. The timing of a lease termination agreement and the corresponding payment would affect
our cash flows in the period of payment.

We have entered into various standby letter of credit agreements associated with our facilities leases,
which serve as required security deposits for such facilities. These letters of credit expire at various times
through 2016. At December 31, 2004, we had $12.2 million outstanding under standby letters of credit, which
are secured by cash, cash equivalents and investments. The following presents the outstanding commitments
under these agreements at each respective balance sheet date for the next five years (in thousands):

Standby

Letters of
Years Ending December 31, _Credit
2005 e $11,672
2006 . $11,578
2007 o e e $ 2,771
2008 e e e $ 2,500
2000 e e $ 2,500
ARtEer 2000 L o $ 1,000

We currently anticipate that our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with
our existing line of credit, will be sufficient to meet our anticipated needs for working capital and capital
expenditures for at least the next 12 months. However, we may be required, or could elect, to seek additional

funding at any time. We cannot assure you that additional equity or debt financing, if required, will be
available on acceptable terms, if at all.

Financial Risk Management

As a global concern, we face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates. These
exposures may change over time as business practices evolve and may have a material adverse impact on our
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consolidated financial results. Our primary exposures relate to non-United States Dollar-denominated
revenues and operating expenses in Europe, Asia Pacific, Australia and Canada.

We use foreign currency forward contracts as risk management tools and not for speculative or trading
purposes. Gains and losses on the changes in the fair values of the forward contracts are included in interest
income and other, net in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. We do not anticipate significant currency
gains or losses in the near term.

We maintain investment portfolio holdings of various issuers, types and maturities. These securities are
classified as available-for-sale and, consequently, are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value
with unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). These securities
are not leveraged and are held for purposes other than trading.

Critical Accounting Policies

In preparing our consolidated financial statements, we make estimates, assumptions and judgments that
can have a significant impact on our revenues, loss from operations and net loss, as well as on the value of
certain assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. We believe that there are several accounting
policies that are critical to an understanding of our historical and future performance, as these policies affect
the reported amounts of revenues, expenses and significant estimates and judgments applied by management.
While there are a number of accounting policies, methods and estimates affecting our consolidated financial
statements, areas that are particularly significant include:

* revenue recognition;

« estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns;
+ estimating the accrual for restructuring and excess facilities costs;
+ accounting for income taxes; and

+ valuation of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill.

Revenue Recognition. We derive revenues from the license of our software products and from support,
consulting and training services that we provide to our customers.

We recognize revenue using the “residual method” in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”)
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions. Under the residual method, for agreements that have
multiple deliverables or “multiple element arrangements” (e.g., software products, services, support, etc.),
revenue is recognized based on company-specific objective evidence of fair value for all of the undelivered
elements. Our specific objective evidence of fair value is based on the price of the element when sold
separately. Once we have established the fair value of each of the undelivered elements, the doltar value of the
arrangement is allocated to the undelivered elements first and the residual of the dollar value of the
arrangement is then allocated to the delivered elements. At the outset of the arrangement with the customer,
we defer revenue for the fair value of undelivered elements (e.g., support, consulting and training) and
recognize revenue for the remainder of the arrangement fee attributable to the elements initially delivered in
the arrangement (i.e., software product) when the basic criteria in SOP 97-2 have been met. If such evidence
of fair value for each undelivered element of the arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the arrangement
is deferred until such time that evidence of fair value does exist or until all elements of the arrangement are
delivered.

Under SOP 97-2, revenue attributable to an element in a customer arrangement is recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable,
collectibility is probable and the arrangement does not require additional services that are essential to the
functionality of the software.

At the outset of our customer arrangements, if we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed or
determinable, we recognize revenue when the arrangement fee becomes due and payable. We assess whether
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the fee is fixed or determinable based on the payment terms associated with each transaction. If a portion of
the license fee is due beyond our normal payments terms, which generally does not exceed 185 days from the
invoice date, we do not consider the fee to be fixed or determinable. In these cases, we recognize revenue as
the fees become due. We do not offer product return rights to end users. We determine collectibility on a case-
by-case basis, following analysis of the general payment history within the geographic sales region and a
customer’s years of operation, payment history and credit profile. If we determine from the outset of an
arrangement that collectibility is not probable based upon our review process, we recognize revenue as
payments are received. We periodically review collection patterns from our geographic locations to ensure
historical collection results provide a reasonable basis for revenue recognition upon signing of an arrangement.
We determined that we had sufficient evidence in the first quarter of 2004 from customers in Japan and
Singapore to begin recognizing revenue on an accrual basis and, in the third quarter of 2004, we began
recognizing revenue from customers in Spain on an accrual basis. Previously, revenues had been recognized
from customers in those countries only when cash was received and all other revenue recognition criteria were
met.

Support and service revenues consist of professional services and support fees. Professional services
consist of software installation and integration, training and business process consulting. Professional services
are predominantly billed on a time-and-materials basis and we recognize revenues as the services are
performed.

Support contracts are typically priced as a percentage of the product license fee and generally have a one-
year term. Services provided to customers under support contracts include technical product support and
unspecified product upgrades. Revenues from advanced payments for support contracts are recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement, which is typically one year.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We make estimates as to the overall collectibility of accounts
receivable and provides an allowance for accounts receivable considered uncollectible. Management specifi-
cally analyzes its accounts receivable and historical bad debt experience, customer concentrations, customer
credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in its customer payment terms when evaluating the
adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. In general, our allowance for doubtful accounts consists of
specific accounts where we believe collection is not probable and a rate based on our historical experience
which is applied to accounts receivable not specifically reserved. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our
allowance for doubtful accounts balance was $961,000 and $1.5 million, respectively. These amounts represent
3% and 4% of total accounts receivable at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decrease in the
allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the continued improvement of our aged accounts receivable profile.

Allowance for Sales Returns. From time to time, a customer may return some or ail of the software
purchased. While our software and reseller agreements do not provide for a specific right of return, we may
accept product returns in certain circumstances. To date, sales returns have been infrequent and not significant
in relation to our total revenues. We make an estimate of our expected returns and provide an allowance for
sales returns in accordance with SFAS No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists. In
determining the amount of the allowance required, management analyzes our revenue transactions, customer
software installation patterns, historical return patterns, current economic trends and changes in our customer
payment terms. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our allowance for sales returns was $670,000 and $745,000,
respectively.

Restructuring and Excess Facilities Accrual. In order to better align our cost structure with our
revenues, we implemented a series of restructuring and facility consolidation plans. Restructuring and facilities
consolidation costs consist of expenses associated with workforce reductions, the consolidation of excess
facilities and the impairment of leasehold improvements and other equipment associated with abandoned
facilities.

We accrue for severance payments and other related termination benefits provided to employees in
connection with involuntary staff reductions. We accrue for these benefits in the period when benefits are
communicated to the terminated employees. Typically, terminated employees are not required to provide
continued service to receive termination benefits. If continued service is required, then the severance liability
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is accrued over the required service period. In general, we use a formula based on a combination of the
number of years of service and the employee’s position within the Company to calculate the termination
benefits to be provided to affected employees. At December 31, 2004, $656,000 was accrued for future
severance and termination benefits payments.

In connection with our restructuring and facility consolidation plans, we perform evaluations of our then-
current facilities requirements and identify facilities that are in excess of our current and estimated future
needs. When a facility is identified as excess and we have ceased use of the facility, we accrue the fair value of
the lease obligations. In determining fair value of expected sublease income over the remainder of the lease
term and of related exit costs, if any, we receive appraisals from real estate brokers to aid in our estimate. In
addition, during the evaluation of our facilities requirements, we also identify operating equipment and
leasehold improvements that may be impaired. Excluding the facilities that are currently subleased, our excess
facilities are being marketed for sublease and are currently unoccupied. Accordingly, our estimate of excess
facilities could differ from actual results and such differences could require additional charges that could
materially affect our consolidated financial condition and results of operations. At December 31, 2004, we had
$25.0 million accrued for excess facilities, which is payable through 2010. This accrual is net of estimated
future sublease income of $3.3 million. We reassess our excess facilities liability each period based on current
real estate market conditions.

Accounting for Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements,
we are required to estimate our income tax liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This
process involves estimating our actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences
resulting from differing treatment of items, such as deferred revenues, for tax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheet.
We must then assess the likelihood that these deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income
and, to the extent we believe it is more likely than not that these amounts will not be recovered, we must
establish a valuation allowance.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred
tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. At Decem-
ber 31, 2004, we have recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, due to uncertainties
related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, consisting principally of certain net operating losses
carried forward. The valuation allowance is based on our estimates of taxable income by jurisdiction and the
period over which our deferred tax assets will be recoverable.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill no longer be amortized and that
goodwill be tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events and circumstances warrant. We are
required to perform an impairment review of goodwill on at least an annual basis. This impairment review
involves a two-step process as follows:

» Step 1 — We compare the fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If
the reporting unit’s carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds the unit’s fair value, we move on to
Step 2. If the unit’s fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is performed and no
impairment charge is necessary.

¢+ Step 2 — We perform an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to its identifiable tangible and
non-goodwill intangible assets and liabilities. This derives an implied fair value for the reporting unit’s
goodwill. We then compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying
amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill is
greater than the implied fair value of its goodwill, an impairment charge would be recognized for the
€XCESS.

We have determined that we have one reporting unit. We performed and completed our required annual
impairment testing in the third quarter of 2004. Upon completing our review, we determined that the carrying
value of our recorded goodwill of $185.5 million had not been impaired and no impairment charge was

22




recorded. Although we determined in 2004 that our recorded goodwill had not been impaired, changes in the
economy, the business in which we operate and our own relative performance may result in goodwill
impairment in future periods.

We are also required to assess goodwill for impairment on an interim basis when indicators exist that
goodwill may be impaired based on the factors mentioned above. For example, if our market capitalization
declines below our net book value or we suffer a sustained decline in our stock price, we will assess whether
our goodwill has been impaired. A significant impairment could result in additional charges and have a
material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition and operating results.

We account for the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets utilizing SFAS No. 144, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment, and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. The recoverability of an asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
its estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated. If the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. During 2002, 2003 and 2004, we do not believe
there were any circumstances which indicated that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.

The following table reflects the expected future amortization of intangible assets (in thousands):

Amortization = Amortization
of Intangible of Purchased

Years Ending Dec?mber 31, _ ‘ Assets Technology Total

2005 ...l e e e $3,201 $10,901  $14,102
2006 ... e PR 2,895 9,706 12,601
2007 e e e 2,522 762 3,284
2008 ... P PP 48 — 48

$8,666 $21,369 $30,035

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are amortized over estimated useful lives of between 12 and
48 months. The amortization expense related to the intangible assets may be accelerated in the future if we
reduce the estimated useful life of the intangible assets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For recent accounting pronouncements see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Factors That May Impact Our Business

The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks we face. These risks include those that
we consider to be significant to your decision whether to invest in our common stock at this time. There may
be risks that you view differently than we do, and there are other risks and uncertainties that we do not
presently know of or that we currently deem immaterial, but that may, in fact, harm our business in the future.
If any of these events occur, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be seriously
harmed, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you may lose part or all of your investment.

You should consider carefully the following factors, in addition to other information in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, in evaluating our business.
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We have incurred annual losses throughout our operating history and may not be able to achieve
consistent profitability.

We have incurred operating losses on an annual basis throughout our history. As of December 31, 2004,
we had an accumulated deficit of $407.0 million. Although we did not incur a loss in the fourth quarter of
2004, we may not be able to sustain operating profitability in the future. We must increase our license and
support and service revenues to sustain profitable operations and positive cash flows. If our revenues do not
grow, we will not maintain profitable operations, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
In addition, our revenues may decline from earlier periods resulting in greater operating losses and significant
negative cash flows, which could cause us to fail and the price of our common stock to decline.

Many factors can cause our revenues to fluctuate on a quarterly basis and if we fail to satisfy the
expectations of investors or securities analysts, our stock price may decline.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past and we expect unpredictable
fluctuations in the future. The main factors impacting these fluctuations are likely to be:

* the discretionary nature of our customers’ purchases and their budget cycles;

» the inherent complexity, length and associated unpredictability of our sales cycle;

+ the number of new information technology initiatives launched by our customers;

« the success or failure of any of our product offerings to meet with customer acceptance;
» the size and complexity of our license and service transactions;

* delays in recognizing revenue from license transactions;

* timing of new product releases;

+ changes in competitors’ product offerings;

« sales force capacity and the influence of resellers and systems integrator partners;

« our ability to integrate newly acquired products with our existing products and effectively sell newly
acquired products;

« the level of our sales incentive and commission related expenses; and
+ seasonal variations in our operating results.

If any of the above factors occur or if the enterprise content management market does not grow as
projected by industry analysts or we do not capture our competitive share of this market, then our results of
operation will suffer. Further, if our results of operations do not meet our public forecasts or the expectations
of securities analysts and investors, the price of our common stock is likely to decline.

Our revenues are derived from a small number of software products and vertical markets.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we believe that a significant portion of our total
revenue was derived from the TeamSite Content Server and related products and services. We expect that our
TeamSite product will continue to account for a significant portion of our revenues in future periods.
Accordingly, any decline in the demand for our TeamSite product will have a material and adverse effect on
our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

We also derive a significant portion of our revenues from a few vertical markets. In particular, our
WorkSite product is primarily sold to professional service organizations, such as legal and accounting firms,
and corporate legal departments. In order for us to sustain and grow our business, we must continue to
successfully sell our software products and services into this vertical market. Failure to successfully sell to
professional service organizations will have a material and adverse effect on our consolidated financial

24




condition and results of operations. In general, we believe that our customers in these markets are affected by
the same conditions that affect our customers in other markets.

Further, the future success of our collaborative content management software applications depends on
our ability to sell software licenses and services to large multi-national corporations in financial services,
manufacturing, telecommunications and governmental entities. To sell to these organizations, we must devote
time and resources to hire and train sales employees to work with enterprises in industries other than legal and
professional services. Even if we are successful in hiring and training sales teams, customers in other industries
may not need or sufficiently value our collaborative content management software applications.

Our products have a long and unpredictable sales cycle, which makes it difficult to forecast our future
results and may cause our operating results to vary from period to period.

The period between initial contact with a prospective customer and the licensing of our software
applications varies and can range from less than three months to more than twelve months. Additionally, our
sales cycle involves complexity as customers consider a number of factors before committing to purchase our
application suite. Factors considered by customers when evaluating our software applications include, among
other factors, product benefits, cost and time of implementation, return on investment, ability to operate with
existing and future computer systems and the ability to accommodate increased transaction volume and
product reliability. Customer evaluation, purchasing and budgeting processes vary significantly from company
to company. As a result, we spend significant time and resources informing prospective customers about our
software products, which may not result in a completed transaction and may negatively impact our operating
margins. Even if a customer chooses our software products, completion of the associated sales transaction is
subject to a number of factors, which makes our quarterly revenues difficult to forecast. These factors include
but are not limited to the following:

+» Licensing of our software products is often an enterprise-wide decision by our customers that involves
many factors. Accordingly, our ability to license our product may be affected by changes in the
strategic importance of content management projects to a customer, a customer’s budgetary constraints
or changes in a customer’s personnel.

+» Passage through customer approval and expenditure authorization processes can be difficult and time
consuming. Delays in the authorization approval process, even after vendor selection, could impact the
timing and amount of revenues recognized in a quarterly period.

« Changes in our sales incentive plans may have an unpredictable impact on our sales cycle and
contracting activities.

» The number, timing and significance of enhancements to our software products and the introduction of
new software by our competitors and us may affect customer purchases.

Throughout 2003 and 2004, our sales cycles continued to be affected by increased organizational review
by prospective customers regardless of transaction size. Specifically, we experienced several delayed software
license orders at the end of the second quarter of 2004 at levels greater than those experienced in any other
quarter in 2004, A continued lengthening in sales cycles and our inability to predict these trends could result in
lower than expected future revenue, which would have an adverse impact on our consolidated operating results
and, correspondingly, our stock price.

Our sales incentive plans are primarily based on quarterly and annual quotas by sales representatives and
certain sales support personnel. These sales incentive plans have accelerated commission rates in the event a
representative exceeds the expected sales quota. The concentration of sales orders with any one or a few sales
representatives has resulted, and in the future may result, in commission expense in excess of forecasted levels,
which have caused, or would in the future cause, fluctuations in sales and marketing expenses. Any increase in
sales and marketing expenses could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations.
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Our stock price may be volatile, and your investment in our common stock could suffer a decline in
value.

The market prices of the securities of software companies, including our own, have been extremely
volatile and often unrelated to their operating performance. Broad market and industry factors may adversely
affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. Factors that
could cause fluctuations in the price of our stock may include, among other things:

« actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating resuits;

» changes in financial estimates by us or in financial estimates or recommendations by any securities
analysts who cover our stock;

» operating performance and stock market price and volume fluctuations of other publicly traded
companies and, in particular, those that are Internet-related or otherwise deemed comparable to us;

+ announcements by us or our competitors of new products or services, technological innovations,
significant acquisitions, strategic relationships or divestitures;

» announcements of investigations or regulatory scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us;
« announcements of negative conclusions about our internal controls;

« capital outlays or commitments;

» additions or departures of key personnel;

+» sector factors including conditions or trends in our industry and the technology arena; and

+ overall stock market factors, such as the price of oil futures, interest rates and the performance of the
economy.

These fluctuations may make it more difficult to use our stock as currency to make acquisitions that
might otherwise be advantageous, or to use stock options as a means to attract and retain employees. Any
shortfall in revenue or net income (loss) compared to our or analysts’ or investors’ expectations could cause an
immediate and significant decline in the trading price of our common stock. In addition, we may not learn of
such shortfalls until late in the quarter, which could result in an even more immediate and greater decline in
the trading price of our common stock. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated
against companies following periods of volatility in their stock price. If we become subject to any litigation of
this type, we could incur substantial costs and our management’s attention and resources could be diverted
while the litigation is ongoing.

Competition from providers of software enabling content and collaboration management is increasing,
which could cause us to reduce our prices and result in reduced gross margins or loss of market share.

The enterprise content management market is fragmented, rapidly changing and increasingly competi-
tive, We have experienced and expect to continue to experience increased competition from current and
potential competitors. Many of these competitors have greater name recognition, longer operating histories,
larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, sales, distribution and other
resources than we have. Our current competitors include:

« companies addressing needs of the market in which we compete such as EMC Corporation, FileNet
Corporation, Hummingbird Ltd., IBM, Microsoft Corporation, Xerox Corporation, Open Text Corpo-
ration, Stellent, Inc., Oracle Corporation and Vignette Corporation;

+ intranet and groupware companies, such as IBM, Microsoft Corporation and Novell, Inc.;
+ in-house development efforts by our customers and partners; and

» open source vendors such as RedHat, Inc.; OpenCms and Mambo.
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We also face potential competition from our strategic partners, or from other companies that may in the
future decide to compete in our market. Some of our existing and potential competitors have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and greater financial, technical and marketing
resources than we do. Many of these companies can also take advantage of extensive customer bases and
adopt aggressive pricing policies to gain market share. Potential competitors may bundle their products in a
manner that discourages users from purchasing our products. Barriers to entering the content management
software market are relatively low. Competitive pressures may also increase with the consolidation of
competitors within our market and partners in our distribution channel, such as the acquisition of Documen-
tum, Inc. by EMC Corporation, Presence Online Pty Ltd. by IBM, Optika, Inc. by Stellent, Inc., Artesia
Technologies, Inc. by Open Text Corporation and TOWER Technology Pty Ltd. and Epicentric, Inc. by
Vignette Corporation.

In recent quarters, some of our competitors have reduced their price proposals in an effort to strengthen
their bids and expand their customer bases. Such tactics, even if unsuccessful, could delay decisions by some
customers that would otherwise purchase our software products and may reduce the ultimate selling price of
our software and services, causing our operating results to be adversely affected.

Our future revenues are dependent in part on our installed customer base continuing to license additional
Dproducts, renew customer support agreements and purchase additional services.

Our installed customer base has traditionally generated additional license and support and service
revenues. In addition, the success of our strategic plan depends on our ability to cross sell products, such as the
products acquired in the acquisitions of MediaBin, iManage and Software Intelligence to our installed base of
customers. In future periods, customers may not necessarily license additional products or contract for
additional support or other services. Customer support agreements are generally renewable annually at a
customer’s option, and there are no mandatory payment obligations or obligations to license additional
software. If our customers decide to cancel their support agreements or fail to license additional products or
contract for additional services, or if they reduce the scope of their support agreements, revenues could
decrease and our operating results could be adversely affected.

The timing of large customer orders may have a significant impact on our consolidated financial vesults
Jrom period to peviod.

From time to time, we receive large customer orders that have a significant impact on our consolidated
financial results in the period in which the order is recognized as revenue. For example, we had three customer
license transactions greater than $1 million in 2004. Because it is difficuit for us to accurately predict the
timing of large customer orders, our consolidated financial results are likely to vary materially from quarter to
quarter based on the receipt of such orders and their ultimate recognition as revenue. Additionally, the loss or
delay of an anticipated large order in a given quarterly period could result in a shortfall of revenues from levels
anticipated by us and our stockholders. Any shortfall in revenues from levels anticipated by our stockholders
and securities analysts could have a material and adverse impact on the trading price of our common stock.

Economic conditions and significant world events have harmed and could continue to negatively affect
our revenues and results of operations. :

Our revenue growth and profitability depend on the overall demand for our enterprise content
management software platforms and applications. The sharp decline in customer spending on information
technology initiatives worldwide, particularly spending on public-facing Web applications, has resulted in and
continues to result in lower revenues, longer sales cycles, lower average selling prices and deferred or cancelled
orders. To the extent that information technology spending does not improve or declines, the demand for our
products and services, and therefore our future revenues, will be further affected. In addition, many of our
customers have also been affected adversely by these economic conditions and, as a result, we may find that
collecting on accounts receivable may take longer than we expect or that some accounts receivable will
become uncollectible.
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Our consolidated financial results could also be significantly affected by geopolitical concerns and world
events, such as wars and terrorist attacks. For example, we experienced delays in customer orders in the first
quarter of 2003 as a result of concerns over the war in Irag. Our revenues and financial results could be
negatively affected to the extent geopolitical concerns continue and similar events occur or are anticipated to
occur.

Support and service revenues have represented a large percentage of our total revenues in 2004 and 2003.
Our support and service revenues are vulnerable to reduced demand and increased competition.

Our support and service revenues represented 58%, 59% and 55% of total revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Support and service revenues depend, in part, on our ability
to license software products to new and existing customers that generate follow-on consulting, training and
support revenues. Demand for these services is also affected by competition from independent service
providers and systems integrators with knowledge of our software products. Since mid-2000, we have
experienced increased competition for service engagements, which has resulted in an overall decrease in
average billing rates for our consultants and price pressure on our software support products. If these factors
continue to affect our business, our support and service revenues may decline and such a decline would have a
material and adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Increases in support and service revenues as a percentage of total revenues may decrease overall margins.

We realize lower margins on support and service revenues than on license revenues. In addition, we may
contract with outside consultants and system integrators to supplement the services we provide to customers,
which generally yields lower gross margins than the gross margins yielded by our captive services business. As
a result, if support and service revenues increase as a percentage of total revenues or if we increase our use of
third parties to provide such services, our gross margins will be lower and our operating results may be
adversely affected.

Our failure to deliver defect-free software could result in losses and harmful publicity.

Our software products are complex and have in the past and may in the future contain defects or failures
that may be detected at any point in the product’s life. We have discovered software defects in the past in
some of our products after their release. Although past defects have not had a material effect on our results of
operations, in the future we may experience delays or lost revenues caused by new defects. Despite our testing,
defects and errors may still be found in new or existing products, and may result in delayed or lost revenues,
loss of market share, failure to achieve market acceptance, reduced customer satisfaction, diversion of
development resources and damage to our reputation. As has occurred in the past, new releases of products or
product enhancements may require us to provide additional services under our support contracts to ensure
proper installation and implementation.

Errors in our application suite may be caused by defects in third-party software incorporated into our
applications. If so, we may not be able to fix these defects without the cooperation of these software providers.
Since these defects may not be as significant to our software providers as they are to us, we may not receive
the rapid cooperation that we may require. We may not have the contractual right to access the source code of
third-party software and, even if we access the source code, we may not be able to fix the defect.

As customers rely on our products for critical business applications, errors, defects or other performance
problems of our products or services might result in damage to the businesses of our customers. Consequently,
these customers could delay or withhold payment to us for our software and services, which could result in an
increase in our provision for doubtful accounts or an increase in collection cycles for accounts receivable, both
of which could disappoint investors and result in a significant decline in our stock price. In addition, these
customers could seek significant compensation from us for their losses. Even if unsuccessful, a product liability
claim brought against us would likely be time consuming and costly and harm our reputation, and thus our
ability to license products to new customers. Even if a suit is not brought, correcting errors in our application
suite could increase our expenses.
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We might not be able to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, a loss of which could harm
our business.

We depend upon our proprietary technology and rely on a combination of patent, copyright and
trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions to protect it. We
currently have 31 issued United States patents and 41 foreign patents, as well as several United States and
foreign patents pending approval. These patents may not offer us meaningful product differentiation or market
exclusivity because there are alternative processes available or prospective customers do not assign material
value to the unique capabilities inherent in the patented processes. It is possible that patents will not be issued
from our currently pending applications or any future patent application we may file. We also have restricted
customer access to our source code and require all employees enter into confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology, unauthorized parties may
attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information we regard as proprietary. In addition,
the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights as effectively as the laws of the United
States and we expect that it will become more difficult to monitor use of our products as we increase our
international presence. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to
protect our trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to defend
against claims of infringement or invalidity. Any such resulting litigation could result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.,

Further, third parties may claim that our products infringe the intellectual property of their products. In
fact, on August 6, 2004, Advanced Software, Inc. filed suit against us in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California alleging that our TeamSite software infringes Advanced Software’s United
States Patent No. Re. 35,861. We believe the claim is without merit and intend to vigorously contest this
matter. However, this claim or any other claims, with or without merit, could be costly and time-consuming to
defend, divert our management’s attention or cause product delays. If our product was found to infringe a third
party’s proprietary rights, we could be required to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to be able to sell
our product. Royalty and licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if
at all, which could harm our business.

Because a significant portion of our revenues are influenced by referrals from strategic partners and sold
through resellers, our future success depends in part on those partners, but their interests differ from
ours.

Our direct sales force depends on strategic partnerships, marketing alliances and resellers to obtain
customer leads, referrals and distribution. About two-thirds of our new license orders in 2004 were influenced
by our strategic partners and resellers. If we are unable to maintain our existing strategic relationships or fail to
enter into additional strategic relationships, our ability to increase revenues will be harmed, and we could also
lose anticipated customer introductions and co-marketing benefits. Our success depends in part on the success
of our strategic partners and their ability and willingness to market our products and services successfully.
Losing the support of these third parties may limit our ability to compete in existing and potential markets.
These third parties are under no obligation to recommend or support our software products and could
recommend or give higher priority to the products and services of other companies, including those of one or
more of our competitors, or to their own products. Qur inability to gain the support of resellers, consulting and
systems integrator firms or a shift by these companies toward favoring competing products could negatively
affect our software license and support and service revenues.

Some systems integrators also engage in joint marketing and sales efforts with us. If our relationship with
these parties fail, we will have to devote substantially more resources to the sales and marketing of our
software products. In many cases, these parties have extensive relationships with our existing and potential
customers and influence the decisiens of these customers. A number of our competitors have longer and more
established relationships with these systems integrators than we do and, as a result, these systems integrators
may be more likely to recommend competitors’ products and services.
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We may also be unable to grow our revenues if we do not successfully obtain leads and referrals from our
customers. If we are unable to maintain these existing customer relationships or fail to establish additional
relationships, we will be required to devote substantially more resources to the sales and marketing of our
products. As a result, we are dependent on the willingness of our customers to provide us with introductions,
referrals and leads. Our current customer relationships do not afford us any exclusive marketing and
distribution rights. In addition, our customers may terminate their relationship with us at any time, pursue
relationships with our competitors or develop or acquire products that compete with our products. Even if our
customers act as references and provide us with leads and introductions, we may not penetrate additional
markets or grow our revenues.

We also rely on our strategic relationships to aid in the development of our products. Should our strategic
partners not regard us as significant to their own businesses, they could reduce their commitment to us or
terminate their relationship with us, pursue competing relationships or attempt to develop or acquire products
or services that compete with our products and services.

Contractual issues may arise during the negotiation process that may delay the anticipated closure of
license transactions and our ability to recognize revenue as anticipated.

Because our solution is mission-critical to many of our customers, the process of contractual negotiation -
may be protracted. The additional time needed to negotiate mutually acceptable terms that culminate in an
agreement to license our products could extend the sales cycle.

Several factors may also require us to defer recognition of license revenue for a significant period of time
after entering into a license agreement, including instances in which we are required to deliver either specified
additional products or product upgrades for which we do not have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair
value. We have a standard software license agreement that provides for revenue recognition provided that,
among other factors, delivery has taken place, collectibility from the customer is probable and no significant
future obligations or customer acceptance rights exist. However, customer negotiations and revisions to these
terms could have an impact on our ability to recognize revenue at the time of delivery.

In addition, slowdowns or variances from internal expectations in our quarterly license contracting
activities may impact our service offerings and may result in lower revenues from our customer training,
consulting services and customer support organizations. Our ability to maintain or increase support and service
revenues is highly dependent on our ability to increase the number of license agreements we enter into with
customers.

Our revenues from international operations are a significant part of our overall operating results.

We have established offices in various international locations in Europe and Asia Pacific, including a
customer support and development operation in Bangalore, India and we derive a significant portion of our
revenues from these international locations. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, revenues
from these international operations constituted approximately 34%, 36% and 34% of our total revenues,
respectively. We anticipate devoting significant resources and management attention to international opportu-
nities, which subjects us to a number of risks including:

+ difficulties in staffing, retaining staff and managing foreign operations;

« the expense of foreign operations and compliance with applicable laws;

political and economic instability;

+ the expense of localizing products for sale in various international markets;

« reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;

» protectionist laws and business préctices that favor local competitors;

» difficulties in the handling of transactions denominated in foreign currency and the risks associated

with foreign currency fluctuations;
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» changes in multiple tax and regulatory requirements;
+ longer sales cycles and collection periods or seasonal reductions in business activity; and
» economic conditions in international markets.

Any of these risks could reduce revenues from international locations, or increase our cost of doing
business outside of the United States.

Our workforce reductions may require us to incur severance costs and veduce our facilities commitments,
which may cause us to incur expenses or recognize additional financial statement charges.

Over the last several years, we have significantly reduced our worldwide employee headcount. In
connection with our restructuring plans and business combinations, we relocated offices and abandoned
facilities in the San Francisco Bay Area; Chicago; New York City; Boston; Austin, Texas and several locations °
internationally. As a result, we are paying for facilities that we are not using and have no future plans to use.
We recorded charges for excess facilities, net of expected sublease income, of $8.1 million, $12.6 million and
$30.0 million in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2004, we
have an accrual for excess facilities of $25.0 million, which is net of anticipated sublease income of
$3.3 million. If the commercial real estate market continues to deteriorate, if our anticipated sublease income
is not realized or if we cannot sublease these excess facilities at all, we may be required to record additional
charges for excess facilities or revise our estimate of sublease income in the future which may be material to
our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

We have continued to review our operational performance across the Company and will continue to make
cost adjustments to better align our expenses with our expected revenues. For example, in the quarter ended
June 30, 2004, we implemented a restructuring plan in certain of our European locations to better align our
expenses with future revenue potential. These actions resulted in the termination of 28 employees and a charge
of $1.7 million associated with these terminations. We may be required to make further adjustments to our
business model to achieve operational efficiency and, as a result, may be required to take additional charges
which could be material to our results of operations.

If our products cannot scale to meet the demands of tens of thousands of concurrent users, our targeted
customers may not license our solutions, which will cause our revenues to decline.

Our strategy includes targeting large organizations that require our enterprise content management
software because of the significant amounts of content that these companies generate and use. For this
strategy to succeed, our software products must be highly scalable and accommodate tens of thousands of
concurrent users. If our products cannot scale to accommodate a large number of concurrent users, our target
markets will not accept our products and our business and operating results will suffer.

If our customers cannot successfully implement large-scale software deployments, or if they determine
that our products cannot accommodate large-scale deployments, our customers will not license our solutions
and this will materially adversely affect our consolidated financial condition and operating results.

If our products do not operate with a wide variety of hardware, software and operating systems used by
our customers, our revenues would be harmed.

We currently serve a customer base that uses a wide variety of constantly changing hardware, software
applications and operating systems. For example, we have designed our products to work with databases and
servers developed by Microsoft Corporation, Sun Microsystems, Inc., Oracle Corporation and IBM and with
software applications including Microsoft Office, WordPerfect, Lotus Notes and Novell GroupWise. We must
continually modify and enhance our software products to keep pace with changes in computer hardware and
software and database technology as well as emerging technical standards in the software industry. We further
believe that our application suite will gain broad market acceptance only if it can support a wide variety of
hardware, software applications and systems. If our products were unable to support a variety of these
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products, our business would be harmed. Additionally, customers could delay purchases of our application
suite until they determine how our products will operate with these updated platforms or applications.

Our products currently operate on the Microsoft Windows XP, Microsoft Windows NT, Microsoft
Windows 2000, Linux, IBM AIX, Hewlett Packard UX and Sun Solaris operating environments. If other
platforms become more widely used, we could be required to convert our server application products to
additional platforms. We may not succeed in these efforts, and even if we do, potential customers may not
choose to license our product. In addition, our products are required to interoperate with leading content
authoring tools and application servers. We must continually modify and enhance our products to keep pace
with changes in these applications and operating systems. If our products were to be incompatible with a
popular new operating system or business application, our business could be harmed. Also, uncertainties
related to the timing and nature of new product announcements, introductions or modifications by vendors of
operating systems, browsers, back-office applications and other technology-related applications, could harm
our business.

Difficulties in introducing new products and upgrades in a timely manner will make market acceptance
of our products less Ilikely.

The market for our products is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product
introductions and technology-related enhancements, uncertain product life cycles, changes in customer
demands and evolving industry standards. We expect to add new content management functionality to our
product offerings by internal development and possibly by acquisition. Content management technology is
more complex than most software and new products or product enhancements can require long development
and testing periods. Any delays in developing and releasing new products could harm our business. New
products or upgrades may not be released according to schedule or may contain defects when released. Either
situation could result in adverse publicity, loss of sales, delay in market acceptance of our products or
customer claims against us, any of which could harm our business. If we do not develop, license or acquire new
software products, or deliver enhancements to existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, our
business will be harmed.

Our products may lack essential functionality if we are unable to obtain and maintain licenses to third-
party software and applications.

We rely on software that we license from third parties, including software that is integrated with our
internally developed software and used in our products to perform key functions. The functionality of our
software products, therefore, depends on our ability to integrate these third-party technologies into our
products. Furthermore, we may license additional software from third parties in the future to add functionality
to our products. If our efforts to integrate this third-party software into our products are not successful, our
customers may not license our products and our business will suffer.

In addition, we would be seriously harmed if the providers from whom we license software fail to continue
to deliver and support reliable products, enhance their current products or respond to emerging industry
standards. Moreover, the third-party software may not continue to be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Each of these license agreements may be renewed only with the other party’s
written consent. The loss of, or inability to maintain or obtain licensed software, could result in shipment
delays or reductions. Furthermore, we may be forced to limit the features available in our current or future
product offerings. Either alternative could seriously harm our business and operating results.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currency, particularly in Euro, British Pound and
Australian Dollar and the various other local currencies of Asia and Europe, may harm our business.

We are exposed to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates because we translate foreign
currencies into United States Dollars for reporting purposes. OQur primary exposures have related to operating
expenses and sales in Asia and Europe that were not United States Dollar-denominated. Historically, these
risks have been minimal for us, but as our international revenues and operations have grown and continue to
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grow, the adverse currency fluctuations could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial
condition and results of operations.

New legislation and potential new accounting pronouncements are likely to impact our future
consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Recently, there have been significant regulatory changes, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
there may be new accounting pronouncements or regulatory rulings that will have an impact on our future
consolidated financial condition and results of operations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other rule
changes following several highly publicized corporate accounting and corporate governance failures are likely
to increase general and administrative costs. These changes have and may continue to materially increase the
expenses we report under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and
adversely affect our consolidated operating results. Additionally, the impact of these changes may increase
costs incurred by our customers and prospects which could result in delays or cancellations in spending on
enterprise content management software and services like those we provide. Such delays and cancellations
could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated statement of operations and financial condition.

When we account for employee stock options using the fair value method, it will significantly increase
our compensation costs.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123R which requires
the measurement of all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using
a fair-value-based method and the recording of compensation expense in the consolidated statement of
operations. The accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after
June 15, 2005 and we will be required to adopt this statement in the third quarter of 2005. We are currently
assessing the impact of SFAS No. 123R, but as we have 10.9 million stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2004, we expect the adoption to have a significant adverse impact on our consolidated
statements of operations.

Charges to earnings resulting from the application of the purchase method of accounting and asset
impairments may adversely affect the market value of our common stock.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, we
accounted for the acquisitions of MediaBin, iManage and certain assets and liabilities of Software Intelligence
using the purchase method of accounting, which resulted in charges to earnings that could have a material
adverse effect on the market value of our common stock following these acquisitions. Under the purchase
method of accounting, we allocated the total estimated purchase price of these acquisitions to their net
tangible assets, amortizable intangible assets, intangible assets with indefinite lives based on their fair values as
of the closing date of these transactions and recorded the excess of the purchase price over those fair values as
goodwill. A portion of the estimated purchase price in the iManage and MediaBin acquisitions was also
allocated to in-process technology and was expensed in the quarter in which the acquisition was completed.
We will incur additional depreciation and amortization expense over the useful lives of certain net tangible and
intangible assets acquired and significant stock-based compensation expense in connection with these
transactions. These depreciation and amortization charges could have a material impact on our consolidated
results of operations.

At December 31, 2004, we had $185.5 million in goodwill and $30.0 million in net other intangible assets,
which we believe are recoverable. Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
require that we review the value of these acquired assets from time to time to determine whether the recorded
values have been impaired and should be reduced. In connection with our 2002 review, we reduced recorded
goodwill by $76.4 million. We performed our required annual impairment test for calendar 2004 in the third
quarter and no additional reduction to recorded goodwill was required at that time. We will continue to
perform impairment assessments on an interim basis when indicators exist that goodwill or our intangible
assets may be impaired. These indicators include our market capitalization declining below our net book value
or if we suffer a sustained decline in our stock price. Changes in the economy, the business in which we
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operate and our own relative performance may result in indicators that our recorded asset values may be
impaired. If we determine there has been an impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets, the carrying
value of those assets will be written down to fair value, and a charge against operating results will be recorded
in the period that the determination is made. Any impairment could have a material impact on our
consolidated operating results and financial position, and could harm the trading price of our common stock.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

All market risk sensitive instruments were entered into for non-trading purposes. We do not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes, nor do we hedge our foreign currency exposure in a
manner that entirely offsets the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal and provide liquidity while at
the same time maximizing yields without significantly increasing risk. To achieve these objectives, we
maintain our portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term investments in a variety of securities, including
government and corporate obligations, certificates of deposit and money market funds. See Note 4 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table presents the fair value of cash equivalents and short-term investments that are subject
to interest rate risk and the average interest rate as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2004 2003
Cash equivalents and short-term investments. ........................ $122,033  $126,324
Average Interest TAte .. ...ttt e e 1.4% 1.6%

Our cash equivalents and short-term investments are subject to interest rate risk and will decline in value
if market interest rates increase. As of December 31, 2004, we had net unrealized losses of $239,000
associated with these securities. Assuming an average investment balance of $120.0 million, if interest rates
were to increase (decrease) by 10%, this would result in a $172,000 increase (decrease) in annual interest
income. Additionally, we have the ability to hold our investments until maturity and, therefore, we would not
expect to recognize an adverse impact on income or cash flows.

At December 31, 2004, we had no outstanding borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risk

We develop our software products in the United States for sale in the Americas, Europe and Asia Pacific.
Our financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or
economic conditions in foreign markets. A majority of our revenues are denominated in United States Dollars;
however, a strengthening of the United States Dollar could make our software products less competitive in
foreign markets. We enter into forward foreign currency contracts to manage the exposure related to accounts
receivable denominated in foreign currencies. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. We had outstanding forward foreign currency contracts with notional amounts totaling approxi-
mately $8.0 million at December 31, 2004. The forward foreign currency contracts mature in February 2005
and offset certain foreign currency transaction exposures in the Euro, British Pound and Australian Dollar.
The fair value of the forward foreign currency contracts at December 31, 2004 was approximately $8.0 million.

We have performed a sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2004 measuring the change in fair value
arising from a hypothetical adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates vis-a-vis the United States
Dollar, with all other variables held constant. The analysis covers all of our foreign currency contracts offset by
underlying exposures. We used foreign currency exchange rates based on market rates in effect at
December 31, 2004. This sensitivity analysis indicated that a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign
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currency exchange rates would result in a loss in the fair values of our foreign exchange derivative financial
instruments, net of exposures, of $802,000 at December 31, 2004,

We regularly review our foreign currency strategy and may as part of this review determine at any time to
change our strategy.

Commodity Price Risk

We did not hold commodity instruments as of December 31, 2004, and have never had such instruments
in the past.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
4 2004

200 2004 2004
) (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Total teVenuUes . .. . oo ot e e, $43,238 $40,261 $ 39,495  $37,394
Gross profit .......c.viiiii $29,985 $27,169 $ 26,677  $24,797
Total operating expenses ................. $29,934 $28,896 $ 42,153 $32,051
Income (loss) from operations ............ $§ 51 $(1,727) $(15,476) $(7,254)
Net income (10s$) .........cooiivennn... $ 405 $(1,502)  $(15,586) $(6,984)
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ 0.01 $ (0.04) $ (039) $ (0.17)
Shares used in computing basic net income
(loss) per common share............... 40,855 40,564 40,420 40,137
Diluted net income (loss) per commeon share $§ 0.01 $ (004) $ (039) $ (0.17)
Shares used in computing diluted net income
(loss) per common share............... 41,940 40,564 40,420 40,137
Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Total revenues . . ..., $ 33,658 $ 26,073 $26,195  $25,586
Grossprofit ......... ... i, $ 22,449 $ 17,387 $17,548  $16,434
Total operating expenses .................. $ 35,476 $ 36,632 $25,579  $26,042
Loss from operations .............c.ovvvn.. $(13,027) $(19,245)  $(8,031) $(9,558)
Netloss .. $(12,397) $(18,840)  $(7,194) $(9,100)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share $ (0.38) $ (0.71) § (0.28) $ (0.36)

Shares used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per common share .............. 32,742 26,398 25,660 25,541
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We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our consolidated financial results should not be relied
upon as an indication of future performance. The operating results of many software companies reflect
seasonal trends, and our business, financial condition and results of operations may be affected by such trends
in the future. These trends may include higher revenues in the fourth quarter as many customers complete
annual budgetary cycles and lower revenues in the first quarter and summer months when many businesses
experience lower sales, particularly in the European market.

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are submitted as a separate section of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. See Item 15.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K are certifications of our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This section includes information concerning our internal control over
financial reporting and the evaluations referred to in those certifications. Item 15 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K sets forth the report of KPMG LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding
its audit of our internal control over financial reporting and of management’s assessment of our internal control
over financial reporting set forth below in this section. This section should be read in conjunction with the
certifications and the report of KPMG LLP for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation as of December 31, 2004, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) were sufficiently effective to ensure that the
information required to be disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K was recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules
and instructions for Form 10-K.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal
control over financial reporting.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our
disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors or fraud.
An internal control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all internal control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues, errors and instances of fraud, if any, within Interwoven, Inc.
have been detected.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).
Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
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Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this framework, management has concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. Our independent registered
public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report on its assessment of our internal control over
financial reporting, which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Certain information required by Part 111 is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K since we will
file a definitive Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 2, 2005, pursuant
to Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Proxy Statement”), not later
than 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and certain information
included in the definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information concerning our officers required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy
Statement under the caption “Executive Officers”. The information concerning our directors and other
matters. required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the captions
“Election of Directors” and “Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors”.

The information concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act required by this Item is
incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance™.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information that is required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under
the caption “Executive Compensation”.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information about security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management required by this
Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management”. The information regarding securities authorized for issuance under
equity compensation plans required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under
the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information that is required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under
the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions”.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information that is required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under
the caption “Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

2002

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Loss for the years

ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In thousands)

Balance
Balance at Charged at End
Beginning (credited) to of
Description of Period .  Write-offs expenses Adjustments Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts
and sales returns:
Year ended December 31, 2004 $2,243 $ (558) $ (54) $ — $1,631
Year ended December 31, 2003 $1,926 $ (531) $ 292 $556* $2,243
Year ended December 31, 2002 $2,178 $(2,411) $2,159 $ — $1,926
* Adjustment related to balances recorded as a result of acquisitions.
3. Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Title Form Date Number  Herewith
2.01 Merger Agreement dated August 6, 2003, by and 8-K 08/08/03 2.01
among Registrant, iManage, Inc. and Mahogany
Acquisition Corporation ................c.ooouu...
3.01 Registrant’s Fourth Amended and Restated S-8 11/19/03 4.08
Certificate of Incorporation ......................
3.02 Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws ........ 10-K  06/20/01 3.03
4.01 Form of Certificate for Registrant’s common stock . . S-1 09/23/99 4.01
10.01 Form of Indemnity Agreement between Registrant S-1 07/27/99 10.01
and each of its directors and executive officers ... ...
10.02* 1996 Stock Option Plan and related agreements. . . .. S-1 07/27/99 10.02
10.03* 1998 Stock Option Plan and related agreements. . . .. S-1 07/27/99 10.03
10.04* 1999 Equity Incentive Plan ......... P S-8  01/24/01 401
10.05* Forms of Option Agreements and Stock Option S-1 09/03/99 10.04

Exercise Agreements related to the 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan .. ...... ... ... ... . i,



Number

10.06*
10.07*

10.08*
10.09*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*
10.13

10.14*
10.15%
10.16*

10.17*
10.18*%
10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22++
10.23
10.24

10.25

10.26

Exhibit Title

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan..............
Forms of Enrollment Form, Subscription Agreement,
Notice of Withdrawal and Notice of Suspension
related to the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ..
2000 Stock Incentive Plan.......................
Forms of Stock Option Agreement and Stock Option
Exercise Agreements related to the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan . ........ ... ... .. ... .. L
Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and
Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under
iManage, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan ............
iManage, Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan
and related forms of stock option and option exercise
AZTEEINENTS L . oo s e e
2003 Acquisition Plan and related forms of stock
option and option exercise agreement..............
Regional Prototype Profit Sharing Plan and Trust/
Account Standard Plan Adoption Agreement
AA#OOL ...
Description of Director Compensation .............

Employment Agreement between Registrant and
Martin W. Brauns dated February 27,1998 ........

Employment arrangement between Registrant and
Martin W, Brauns. .. ... ... ..o i

Compensatory Arrangements with Executive Officers
2005 Executive Officer Incentive Bonus Plan .......
Form of Amendment No. 1 to Stock Option
Agreement between Registrant and each of the
officers identified in this exhibit ..................

Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option
Agreement and related Stock Option Agreement
between Registrant and each of the officers identified
intheexhibit.......... ... ... ... ... ... ...
Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option
Agreement and related Stock Option Agreement
between Martin W. Brauns ......................
Preferred Stock Warrant to Purchase Shares of
Series E Preferred Stock of Registrant ............
Ariba Plaza Sublease dated June 28, 2001 between
Registrant and Ariba, Inc. ......................
Amended and Restated Ariba Plaza Sublease dated
August 6, 2001 between Registrant and Ariba, Inc.
Amended and Restated First Amendment to
Amended and Restated Sublease dated May 6, 2001
between Registrant and Ariba, Inc. ...............
Office Lease for 303 East Wacker, Chicago, Illinois
between 303 Wacker Realty LLC and iManage, Inc.
dated March, 17,2003 ............. .. ... .. ......
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Incorporated by Reference

Filed
Form Date Number Herewith
S-8  01/24/01 4.03
S-1  09/03/99 10.05
S-8 09/26/00 4,01
S-8  06/22/00 4.03
S-8  11/19/03 4.02
S-8 11/19/03 4.03
S-8 11/19/03 4.07
S-1  07/27/99 10.06
X
S-1  07/27/99 10.07
10-Q 08/13/03  10.04
X
X
10-Q  11/13/02 10.01
10-Q 08/13/03 10.01
10-Q 08/13/03 10.02
S-1  09/03/99 10.25
10-Q 08/14/01 10.01
10-Q 11/14/01 10.01
10-Q 11/08/04 10.01
(N (1) (1)




Incorporated by Reference Filed

Number Exhibit Title Form Date Number  Herewith

10.27 First Amendment to Lease dated November 12, 2003 X
between iManage, Inc. and 303 Wacker Realty LLC

10.28 Sublease between Hyperion Solutions Corporation (2) (2) (2)

and iManage, Inc. dated January 17,2002 .........

10.29 Revolving Line of Credit Note dated August 2, 2001, 10-Q 08/14/01 10.02
between Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank .........

10.30 Amendment to Line of Credit Agreement dated 10-Q 11/08/04  10.02
June 1, 2004 between Registrant and Wells Fargo
Bank . ..... ... . e

21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registrant .................... X

23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public X
Accounting Firm.................. e

31.01 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-15(a) certification of the Chief X
Executive Officer. ......... ... ... . ... .......

31.02 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-15(a) certification of the Chief X
Financial Officer ........... ... ... v,

32.01 Section 1350 certification of Chief Executive Officer X

32.02 Section 1350 certification of the Chief Financial X

Officer .. i e

(1) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the iManage, Inc. Annual Report Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 26,
2003

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the iManage, Inc. Annual Report Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 29,
2002

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement

t Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to certain portions of this document. Such portions were filed separately with
the Commission.

t1 Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an order granting confidential treatment.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Interwoven, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Interwoven, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also
have audited the related financial statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Interwoven, Inc., and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion,
the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets on January 1,
2002.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated
March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation
of, internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
March 15, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Interwoven, Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that Interwoven, Inc. maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Interwoven, Inc’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on
the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting of Interwoven, Inc. based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Interwoven, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. Also, in our opinion,
Interwoven, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Interwoven, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and
comprehensive loss, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004,
and our report dated March 15, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
March 15, 2005
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INTERWOVEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2004

2003

(In thousands, except per
share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ...t $ 22466 § 30,061
Short-term INVESTMENTS . . . ..ot it et et e e 111,291 110,426
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,631 and $2,243 in 2004 and 2003,
TESPECtIVELY . . oo e 28,292 33,834
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...........c.coveiiiiiineiennn.. 8,450 8,629
Total current assets .. ...ttt e 170,499 182,950
Property and equipment, Det. . ...ttt e 5,831 7,403
Goodwill, met ... . e 185,464 185,991
Other intangible assets, net...........o v, R 30,035 43,134
Other @888TS . oo e e 1,947 2,347
Total @SSEES . . o oot $ 393,776 § 421,825
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Bank DormoWings . . . ..ot $ — $ 1,213
Accounts payable . . ... 5,568 4,576
Accrued liabilities . ... ... .. e 20,370 22,961
Restructuring and excess facilities accrual ............................... 8,966 15,733
Deferred revenues . . ..o e e 50,121 44,066
Total current liabilities . ... ... . . ... 85,025 88,549
Accrued Habilities .. ... e e e 3,413 1,956
Restructuring and excess facilities accrual ... ... ... ... ... ... .. o 16,716 30,386
Total Habilities .. ..ot e e 105,154 120,891
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 125,000 shares authorized at December 31,
2004 and 2003; 41,087 shares and 40,008 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively .. ...... .. ... i 41 40
Additional paid-in capital ....... .. ... 697,860 693,773
Deferred stock-based compensation. ...... ... ... .. .. .. il (2,067) (9,564)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ........ ... ... ... .. ..., (205) 25
Accumulated deficit. . ... . o e (407,007)  (383,340)
Total stockholders’ equity .. ......c.uouiie i 288,622 300,934
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. .......... ..., $ 393,776 $ 421,825

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

43




INTERWOVEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
LICEMSE . o oottt $ 67,341 $ 45936 $ 57,309
Support and SETVICE ... ... ot e 93,047 65,576 69,523
Total revenues . ... i e 160,388 111,512 126,832
Cost of revenues:
LaCenSe e e 13,336 5,368 3,283
Support and SEIvICE .. ... 38,424 32,276 39,319
Total cost of revenues. .......... it 51,760 37,644 42,602
GTOSS Profit ..o e 108,628 73,868 84,230
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing . ........ ... i 70,824 57,959 73,712
Research and development ........ ... ... .. .. .. . 30,825 24,613 26,599
General and administrative . ........ ... i 12,080 12,474 14,299
Amortization of stock-based compensation ..................... 4,982 2,348 4,880
Amortization of intangible assets ........... ... ... ... .. ... 4,541 2,348 3,722
In-process research and development ................ ... ..... — 5,174 —
Restructuring and excess facilities charges ..................... 9,782 18,813 38,084
Impairment of goodwill ...... .. .. ... ... .. . — — 76,431
Total operating eXpenses . .. .....veurretuneeuneennneenn.. 133,034 123,729 237,727
Loss from operations . ...........oveiimirneninnnnnnnnn. (24,406)  (49,861)  (153,497)
Interest income and other, net .......... ... 0. iiviiiinn.. 1,725 3,401 5,958
Loss before provision for income taxes....................... (22,681)  (46,460)  (147,539)
Provision for income taxes . ...t 986 1,071 1,077
Nt 1088 © ot $(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ..................... $ (0.58) $§ (1.72) $ (5.80)

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common
SHATE . o e 40,494 27,585 25,607

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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INTERWOVEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances, January 1, 2002

Components of comprehensive
loss:
Net loss
Unrealized gain on investments

Comprehensive loss. .. ...
Treasury stock repurchased
Treasury stock retired . .........

Repurchase of common stock .. ..

Issuance of common stock under
stockplans .................
Deferred stock-based
compensation .. ...
Reversal of stock-based
compensation for terminated
employees................ ..
Amortization of stock-based
compensation ...............

Balances, December 31,2002 .. ..

Components of comprehensive
loss:
Net loss
Unrealized loss on investments

Comprehensive loss. .. ...
Stock issued and options assumed
in acquisitions

Repurchase of common stock .. ..

Issuance of common stock under
stock plans ............... .

Deferred stock-based
COMPENnsation ...............

Amortization of stock-based
compensation .. .............

Balances, December 31, 2003 ...

Components of comprehensive
loss:
Net loss
Unrealized loss on investments
Cumulative translation

adjustment ........ ... ...

Comprehensive loss. ... ..
Stock issued in acquisition . ... ..
Issuance of common stock under
stock plans .......... ... ...
Reversal of stock-based
compensation for terminated
employees......... .ol
Amortization of stock-based
compensation . ..............

Balances, December 31, 2004 .. ..

AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2004

Accumulated
Additional Deferred Other Total
Commion Stock ~_Treasury Stock. “'paig_in  Stock-based Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital  Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
(In thousands}
. 26,119 $26 (197) $ (3,594) $553,085 § (10,584) $ 265 $(187,193) $352,005
. — — — — —_ — — (148,616) (148,616)
— — — — — — 58 — 58
. (148,558)
. — — (875)  (10,067) — — — — (10,067)
. (1,072) — 1,072 13,661 (13,661) — — — —
5) - — — (24) - - - 24
. 612 — — — 5,638 — — — 5,638
. — — — —_ — (1,724) — — (1,724)
. — — — — (5,742) 5,742 — — —
. — = —_ — 2,055 4,400 — — 6,455
25,634 26 — —_ 541,351 (2,166) 323 (335,809) 203,725
. —_ — — — — — —_— (47,531) (47,531)
— — — — — — (298) — (298)
. (47,829)
. 14,041 14 — — 148,048 — - —_ 148,062
8 — — — (10) - - - (10)
. 357 — — — 2,459 — — — 2,459
. — — — — 1,925 (9,746) — — (7.821)
. — = — — — 2,348 — — 2,348
40,008 40 — — 693,773 (9,564) 25 (383,340) 300,934
) _ — — — — — — (23,667) (23,667)
— — — — — — (264) — (264)
. — —_ — —_ — — 34 — 34
. (23,897)
. 118 — — — 782 — —_ —_ 782
. 961 1 — — 5,820 — —_ - 5,821
) - — - — (2,515) 2,515 — — -
. — = — — — 4,982 — — 4,982
41,087 $_41 — 3 —  $697.860 $ (2,067) $(205) $(407,007) $288,622

|
H

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statement
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INTERWOVEN, INC,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Nt 1088 vttt
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation. . . . v ittt e
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation..........
Amortization of intangible assets and purchased technology . ..
Impairment of goodwill ........ ... ... ... .. ... . ... ...
In-process research and development ........... ... ... ...
Reduction in allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable .. ... ...
Prepaid expenses and otherassets.......................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .................
Restructuring and excess facilities accrual . ...............
Deferred revenues . .........o i

Net cash used in operating activities ..................

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment........................
Purchases of investments . ............. ... ...
Maturities and sales of investments ...................... ...
Acquisition of businesses and technology, net of cash acquired . .

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ......

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of bank borrowings . ...... ... .. ... ... i
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock ................
Repurchases of common stock and treasury stock .............

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . .....

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents .......................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period..................

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period.......................

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing
activities:
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments .......................

Retirement of treasury stock ....... ... .. .. ... oL,

Common stock issued and stock options assumed in acquisitions

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)
$(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616)
4,276 6,312 8,647
4,982 2,348 4,880
15,177 4310 3,722
— — 76,431
— 5,174 —
(612) (239) (252)
6,154 (6,556) 12,729
579 638 304
528 (4,318) (11,324)
(20,620) 2,070 25,101
5,971 5,021 (2,736)
(7232)  (32771)  (31,114)
(2,670) (859) (1,967)
(118,378)  (93,153)  (227,923)
117,249 122,051 249,035
(1,172) (9,502) (823)
(4971) 18,537 18,322
(1,213) (201) —
5,821 2,459 5,638
— (10)  (10,091)
4,608 2,248 (4,453)
(7,595)  (11,986)  (17,245)
30,061 42,047 59,292
§ 22,466 § 30,061 42,047
$ (264) 3 (29%)
$ — 3 —
$ 782  $148,062




INTERWOVEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Business

Interwoven, Inc. (“Interwoven” or the “Company”) provides enterprise content management (“ECM”)
software and services that enable businesses to create, review, manage, distribute and archive critical business
content, such as documents, spreadsheets, e-mails and presentations, as well as Web images, graphics, content
and applications code across the enterprise and its value chain of customers, partners and suppliers. The
Company’s ECM platform consists of integrated software product offerings, delivering customers end-to-end
content lifecycle management including collaboration, e-mail management, imaging, digital asset manage-
ment, Web content management, document management and records management. Customers have deployed
the Company’s products for business initiatives such as intranet management, marketing content manage-
ment, collaborative portals, Web content management, records management, deal management, matter-
centric collaboration and content provisioning. Interwoven markets and licenses its software products and
services in North America and through subsidiaries in Europe and Asia Pacific.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to conform to
the current period presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists principally of software license, support, consulting and training fees. The Company
recognizes revenue using the residual method in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions. Revenue is recognized in a multiple element arrangement
in which company-specific objective evidence of fair value exists for all of the undelivered elements in the
arrangement, but does not exist for one or more of the delivered elements in the arrangement. Company-
specific objective evidence of fair value of support and other services is based on the Company’s customary
pricing for such support and services when sold separately. At the outset of a customer arrangement, the
Company defers revenue for the fair value of its undelivered elements (e.g., support, consulting and training)
and recognizes revenue for the fee attributable to the elements initially delivered (i.e., software product) when
the basic criteria in SOP 97-2 have been met. If such evidence of fair value for each undelivered element does
not exist, all revenue is deferred until such time that evidence of fair value does exist or until all elements of
the arrangement are delivered.

Under SOP 97-2, revenue attributable to an element in a customer arrangement is recognized when
(i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the fee is fixed or
determinable, (iv) collectibility is probable and (v) the arrangement does not require services that are
essential to the functionality of the software.
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INTERWOVEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. The Company determines that persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists with respect to a customer when it has a written contract, which is signed by both the
customer and the Company, or a signed purchase order from the customer and the customer has previously
executed a license arrangement with the Company. The Company does not offer product return rights to end
users.

Delivery has occurred. The Company’s software may be delivered either physically or electronically to
the customer. The Company determines that delivery has occurred upon shipment of the software pursuant to
the terms of the agreement or when the software is made available to the customer through electronic delivery.

The fee is fixed or determinable. If at the outset of the customer arrangement, the Company determines
that the arrangement fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized when the fee becomes due and
payable. Fees due under an arrangement are generally deemed not to be fixed or determinable if a portion of
the license fee is beyond the Company’s normal payment terms, which are generally no greater than 185 days
from the date of invoice.

Collectibility is probable. The Company determines whether collectibility is probable on a case-by-case
basis. When assessing probability of collection, the Company considers the number of years in business,
history of collection for each customer and market acceptance of its products within each geographic sales
region. The Company typically sells to customers with whom there is a history of successful collection. New
customers are subject to a credit review process, which evaluates the customer’s financial position and,
ultimately, their ability to pay. If the Company determines from the outset of an arrangement or based on
historical experience in a specific geographic region that collectibility is not probable based upon its review
process, revenue is recognized as payments are received. The Company periodically reviews collection patterns
from its geographic locations to ensure that its historical collection results provide a reasonable basis for
revenue recognition upon signing of an arrangement. For example, in the first quarter of 2004, the Company
determined that it had sufficient evidence from customers in Japan and Singapore to begin recognizing
revenue on an accrual basis. In the third quarter of 2004, the Company began recognizing revenue from
customers in Spain on an accrual basis. Previously revenue had been recognized from customers in those
countries only when cash was received, and all other criteria for revenue recognition were met.

The Company allocates revenue to each element in software arrangements involving multiple elements
based on the relative fair value of each element. The Company’s determination of fair value of each element is
based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”). The Company limits its assessment of
VSOE for each element to the price charged when the same element is sold separately. The Company has
analyzed all of the elements included in its multiple-element arrangements and determined that it has
sufficient VSOE to allocate revenue to the support and professional services components including consulting
and training services of its perpetual license arrangements. The Company sells its professional services
separately and has established VSOE on this basis. VSOE for support is determined based upon the
customer’s annual renewal rates for this element. Accordingly, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria
are met, revenue from licenses is recognized upon delivery using the residual method in accordance with
SOP 98-9, and revenue from support services is recognized ratably over their respective support period. The
Company recognizes revenue from time-based licenses ratably over the license terms as the Company does
not have VSOE for the individual elements in these arrangements.

Support and service revenues consist of professional services and support fees. The Company’s
professional services, which are comprised of software installation and integration, business process consulting
and training, are not essential to the functionality of its software products. These products are fully functional
upon delivery and do not require any significant modification or alteration for customer use. Customers
purchase these professional services to facilitate the adoption of the Company’s technology and dedicate
personnel to participate in the services being performed, but they may also decide to use their own resources or
appoint other professional service organizations to provide these services. Software products are billed
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INTERWOVEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

separately from professional services, which are generally billed on a time-and-materials basis. The Company
recognizes revenue from professional services as services are performed.

Support contracts are typically priced based on a percentage of license fees and have a one-year term.
Services provided to customers under support contracts include technical support and unspecified product
upgrades. Revenues from support contracts are recognized ratably over the term of the agreement, which is
typically one year.

The Company expenses all manufacturing, packaging and distribution costs associated with its software
as cost of license revenues.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short- and Long-Term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at
the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include money market funds,
commercial paper, government agencies and various deposit accounts. Cash equivalents are recorded at fair
value, which approximates cost.

The Company’s investments are classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at fair value based on
quoted market prices. These investments consist of corporate obligations that include commercial paper,
corporate bonds and notes, market auction rate preferred and United States government agency securities.
Realized gains and losses are calculated using the specific identification method. The Company realized
($15,000), none and $36,000 of net gains (losses) in 2004, 2003 and 2002. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, unrealized
gains (losses) totaled ($264,000), ($298,000) and $58,000, respectively. Unrealized gains and losses are
included as a separate component of accumulated comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company makes estimates as to the overall collectibility of accounts receivable and provides an
allowance for accounts receivable considered uncollectible. The Company specifically analyzes its accounts
receivable and historical bad debt experience, customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current
economic trends and changes in its customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance
for doubtful accounts. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was
$961,000 and $1.5 million, respectively.

Allowance for Sales Returns

The Company makes an estimate of its expected product returns and provides an allowance for sales
returns. The Company analyzes its revenue transactions, customer software installation patterns, historical
return pattern, current economic trends and changes in its customer payment terms when evaluating the
adequacy of the allowance for sales returns. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s allowance for
sales returns was $670,000 and $745,000, respectively.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company maintains the majority
of its cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments with three financial institutions domiciled in the
United States and one financial institution in the United Kingdom. The Company performs ongoing
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally requires no collateral from its customers on
accounts receivable.
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The Company derived a significant portion of total revenue in 2004 from its Web content management
and collaborative document management products and services. The Company expects that these products
will continue to account for a significant portion of its revenues in future periods.

The Company relies on software licensed from third parties, including software that is integrated with
internally developed software. These software license agreements expire on various dates from 2005 to 2009
and the majority of these agreements are renewable with written consent of the parties. Either party may
terminate the agreement for cause before the expiration date with written notice. If the Company cannot
renew these licenses, shipments of its products could be delayed until equivalent software could be developed
or licensed and integrated into its products. These types of delays could seriously harm the Company’s
business. In addition, the Company would be seriously harmed if the providers from whom the Company
licenses its software ceased to deliver and support reliable products, enhance their current products or respond
to emerging industry standards. Moreover, the third-party software may not continue to be available to the
Company on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

The Company has incurred operating losses on an annual basis throughout its history. For the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s net losses were $23.7 million, $47.5 million and
$148.6 million, respectively, and the Company has $133.8 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments as of December 31, 2004. The Company currently anticipates that its cash and investments,
together with its existing line of credit will be sufficient to meet anticipated needs for working capital and
capital expenditures through December 31, 2005. However, the Company may be required, or could elect, to
seek additional funding at any time. There can be no assurances that additional equity or debt financing, if
required, will be available on acceptable terms, if at ail.

Financial Instruments

The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts where the counterparty is a bank. The
Company purchases forward foreign exchange contracts to mitigate the risk of changes in foreign exchange
rates on accounts receivable. Although these contracts are effective as hedges from an economic perspective,
they do not qualify for hedge accounting under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”)
No. 133, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended. Any derivative that is either not
designated as a hedge or is so designated but is ineffective per SFAS No. 133, is marked to market and
recognized in income immediately.

At December 31, 2004, the notional equivalent of forward foreign currency contracts aggregated
$8.0 million. The unrealized gains/losses associated with these forward foreign exchange contracts were
insignificant. These contracts are scheduled to expire in March 2005.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over
estimated useful lives of two to five years. Amortization of leasehold improvements is recorded using the
straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term, generally three
to five years. Upon the sale or retirement of an asset, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the consolidated balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations.

Repair and maintenance expenditures, which are not considered improvements and do not extend the
useful life of an asset, are expensed as incurred.
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which
requires that goodwill no longer be amortized and that goodwill be tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events and circumstances warrant. This impairment testing involves a two-step process as follows:

+ Step | — The Company compares the fair value of its reporting unit to its carrying value, including
goodwill. If the reporting unit’s carrying value, including goodwill, exceeds the unit’s fair value, the
Company moves on to Step 2. If the unit’s fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is
performed and no impairment charge is necessary.

» Step 2 — The Company performs an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to its identifiable
tangible and non-goodwill intangible assets and liabilities. This derives an implied fair value for the
reporting unit’s goodwill. The Company then compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If the carrying amount of the
reporting unit’s goodwill is greater than the implied fair value of its goodwill, an impairment charge
would be recognized for the excess.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company completed its annual impairment testing utilizing the steps
mentioned above and determined that an impairment of goodwill had occurred. Accordingly, the Company
recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $76.4 million.

Based on the subsequent annual impairment tests performed in the third quarter of 2004 and 2003, the
Company determined that the carrying value of its recorded goodwill had not been impaired and no
impairment charge was recorded in either year. The Company will continue to assess goodwill for impairment
on an interim basis when indicators exist that goodwill may be impaired. Conditions that indicate that the
Company’s goodwill may be impaired include the Company’s market capitalization declining below its net
book value or the Company suffering a sustained decline in its stock price.

SFAS No. 142 requires companies to assess goodwill for impairment on an interim basis when indicators
exist that goodwill may be impaired. A significant impairment could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets utilizing SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived
assets, such as property and equipment and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, be reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. The recoverability of an asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of
an asset to its estimated undiscounted future cash flows. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the
balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less estimated selling costs, and
would no longer be depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale would
be presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

Restructuring and Related Expenses

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities. SFAS No. 146 supersedes Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs To Exit an Activity (Including
Certain Costs Associated with a Restructuring) and EITF Issue No. 88-10, Costs Associated with Lease
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Modification or Termination. The Company adopted SFAS No. 146 effective January [, 2003; therefore, the
restructuring activities initiated in 2003 were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 146. The adoption
of SFAS No. 146 did not impact the Company’s restructuring obligations recognized in 2002 as these
obligations must continue to be accounted for in accordance with EITF No. 94-3 and EITF No. 88-10 and
other applicable pre-existing guidance.

SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred, as opposed to when management commits to an exit plan. SFAS No. 146 also requires
that: (i) liabilities associated with exit and disposal activities be measured at fair value; (ii) one-time
termination benefits be expensed at the date the entity notifies the employee, unless the employee must
provide future service, in which case the benefits are expensed ratably over the future service period;
(iii) liabilities related to an operating lease/contract be recorded at fair value and measured when the contract
does not have any future economic benefit to the entity (i.e., the entity ceases to utilize the rights conveyed by
the contract); and (iv) all other costs related to an exit or disposal activity be expensed as incurred. The
Company estimates the fair value of its lease obligations included in its 2003 restructuring activities based on
the present value of the remaining lease obligation, operating costs and other associated costs, less estimated
sublease income.

Restructuring obligations incurred prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 146 were accounted for and
continue to be accounted for in accordance with EITF No. 94-3 and EITF No. 88-10. Specifically, the
Company accounts for the costs associated with the reduction of its workforce in accordance with EITF
No. 94-3. Accordingly, the Company recorded the liability related to these termination costs when the
following conditions were met: (i) management with the appropriate level of authority approves a termination
plan that commits the Company to such plan and establishes the benefits the employees will receive upon
termination; (ii) the benefit arrangement is communicated to the employees in sufficient detail to enable the
employees to determine the termination benefits; (iii) the plan specifically identifies the number of employees
to be terminated, their locations and their job classifications; and (iv) the period of time to implement the plan
does not indicate changes to the plan are likely. The termination costs recorded by the Company are not
associated with nor do they benefit continuing activities.

In 2002, the Company accounted for costs associated with lease termination and/or abandonment in
accordance with EITF No. 88-10. Accordingly, the Company recorded the costs associated with lease
termination and/or abandonment when the leased property has no substantive future use or benefit to the
Company. Under EITF No. 88-10, the liability associated with lease termination and/or abandonment
represents the sum of the total remaining lease costs and related exit costs, less probable sublease income.
Accordingly, the Company has not reduced the obligations incurred in 2002 to their net present value.

Adpvertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs expensed for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $131,000, $247,000 and $340,000, respectively.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred in the research and development of new software products are expensed as incurred until
technological feasibility has been established at which time such costs are capitalized, subject to a net
realizable value evaluation. Technological feasibility is established upon the completion of an integrated
working model. Once a new product is ready for general release, costs are no longer capitalized. Costs incurred
between completion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready for general release have
not been significant. Accordingly, the Company has charged all costs to research and development expense in
the period incurred.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
carryforwards of net operating losses and tax credits. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred
tax assets to the amounts expected to be recovered.

Stock-based Compensation

At December 31, 2004, the Company had six stock-based compensation plans. The Company accounts
for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and has elected to adopt the disclosure-only
provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. The resulting stock-based compen-
sation is amortized over the estimated term of the stock option, generally four years, using an accelerated
approach. This accelerated approach is consistent with the method described in Financial Accounting
Standards Board Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other
Variable Stock Option or Awards Plans. Stock-based compensation to non-employees is based on the fair
value of the option estimated using the Black-Scholes model on the date of the grant and revalued at the end
of each reporting pertod until vested.

Pro Forma Net Loss and Net Loss per Share

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123. Had compensation cost been
determined based on the fair value at the grant date, the Company’s net loss and basic and diluted net loss per
common share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net loss:
Asreported ... ... $(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616)
Stock-based employee compensation included in net loss
as reported, net of related tax ...................... 4,982 2,348 6,455
Stock-based employee compensation using the fair value
method, net of refated tax ............. ... ... .. .. (19,411)  (15,151) (24,806)
Proforma......... .o, $(38,096) $(60,334) $(166,967)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
ASTEPOrted ... $ (058) $§ (1.72) & (5.80)
Pro forma. ..o e $ (094) $ (219) $ (6.32)

The estimated weighted average fair value of options granted under the stock option plans during 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $7.03, $6.94 and $9.81 per share, respectively. The weighted average fair value of stock
purchase shares for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $1.66, $1.10 and $2.38,
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respectively. The fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option

valuation method, with the following weighted-average assumptions:
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected lives from vesting date (in years) — stock options .. 0.75-1.0 1.0 1.0
Risk-free interest rate — stock options. .................... 2.6%-3.7% 3.0  3.8%
Dividend yield......... ... .. 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility — stock options ... .......... . ... .. i 58.9%-118.9% 115.1% 89.2%

The fair value of each stock purchase right granted under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”’)
is estimated using the Black-Scholes option valuation method, using the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 005 2002
Expected lives from vesting date (in years) —ESPP ......... 0.5 to 2 years 0.5 0.5
Risk-free interest rate — ESPP .. ....... ... . ... .. ... ..... 1.1%-2.6% 1.0% 1.6%
Dividend yield ........... 0o i 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility — ESPP .. ... .. 45.0%-73.6% 56.8% 63.0%

Business Segment and Major Customer Information

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes
standards for the manner in which public companies report information about operating segments in annual
and interim financial statements. [t also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and
services, geographic areas and major customers. The method for determining the information to report is
based on the way management organizes the operating segments within the Company for making operating
decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company’s chief operating decision-maker is considered to be the Chief Executive Officer. The
Chief Executive Officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by
disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing financial performance. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, revenues derived
from customers outside the United States of America represented 34%, 36% and 34% of total revenues,
respectively, and consisted of customers in Europe, Asia Pacific, Australia and Canada. On this basis, the
Company is organized and operates in a single segment: the design, development and marketing of software
solutions.

No customer accounted for more than 10% of the total revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002. At
December 31, 2004, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. At
December 31, 2003, one customer accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance.

Foreign Currency Translation

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company changed the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries from
the United States Dollar to the local currency due to the increased operations and activity of the foreign
subsidiaries associated with the merger with iManage, Inc. (“iManage”). As a result of the merger, the
foreign subsidiaries have increased resources locally, requiring less support from the domestic parent and will
incur increased operational costs that will be paid in local currency. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities are
translated using current rates of exchange at the balance sheet date, while revenues and expenses are
translated using weighted-average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The resulting gains or losses
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from translation are charged or credited to other comprehensive income (loss) and are accumulated and
reported in the stockholders’ equity section of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. In accordance with
SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation, the Company recorded an unrealized gain due to foreign
currency translation of $34,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004,

Comprehensive Loss

Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to gains and losses that under the accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America are recorded as an element of stockholders’ equity and are
excluded from operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the components of comprehensive loss consisted
of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
NEt 1088 .+t $(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments .. (264) (298) 58
Cumulative translation adjustment .................... 34 — —
(230) (298) 58
Comprehensive 108S. ... ..o $(23,897) $(47,829) $(148,558)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) comprises the following (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments ............... $(239) $25 $323
Cumulative translation adjustment .......... ... ... ... i, 34

$(205) $25 $323

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of outstanding shares of
common stock during the period, excluding shares of restricted stock subject to repurchase. Dilutive net loss
per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period and, when dilutive, potential common shares from options to purchase common stock and common
stack subject to repurchase, using the treasury stock method.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Nt 1088 « oo $(23,667) $(47,531) $(148,616)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per common share ........... . ..ol 40,494 27,585 25,607
Basic and diluted net loss per common share ............. $ (038) $ (1.72) &  (5.80)
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For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 10.9 million, 9.9 million and 6.5 million stock
options, respectively, were anti-dilutive and excluded from the diluted net loss per share calculation due to
either the exercise price being greater than the average fair market price during the year or due to the
Company’s net loss in each year.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R which requires the measurement of all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair-value-based method
and the recording of compensation expense in the consolidated statement of operations. The accounting
provisions of SFAS No. 123R are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company
is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the third quarter of 2005, The pro forma disclosures previously
permitted under SFAS No. 123 and disclosed under the caption Pro Forma Net Loss and Net Loss per Share
above will no longer be an alternative to recognition in the consolidated financial statement. Although the
Company has not yet determined whether the adoption of SFAS No. 123R will result in amounts that are
similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, the Company is currently assessing the
impact of SFAS No. 123R. As the Company has 10.9 million stock options outstanding at December 31,
2004, the Company expects the adoption of SFAS No. 123R to have a significant adverse impact on its
consolidated statements of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets — an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 29. The guidance in Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 29,
Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions, is based on the principie that exchanges of nonmonetary assets
should be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. The guidance in APB No. 29, however,
included certain exceptions to that principle. SFAS No. 153 amends APB No. 29 to eliminate the exception
for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges
of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. The Company is currently assessing the impact
of the provisions. The provision of SFAS No. 153 is effective in periods beginning after June 13, 2003. The
Company does not believe that the adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staft Position No. 109-1 (“FAS No. 109-1"), Application of
FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production
Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. The American Jobs Creation Act (“AJCA”)
introduces a special 9% tax deduction on qualified production activities. FAS No. 109-1 clarifies that this tax
deduction should be accounted for as a special tax deduction in accordance with SFAS No. 109. The
Company does not expect the adoption of these new tax provisions to have a material impact on its
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-2 (“FAS No. 109-2"), Accounting
and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creations
Act of 2004. The AJCA introduces a limited time 85% dividends received deduction on the repatriation of
certain foreign earnings to a United States taxpayer (repatriation provision), provided certain criteria are met.
FAS No. 109-2 provides accounting and disclosure guidance for the repatriation provision. Although
FAS No. 109-2 is effective immediately, the Company does not expect to be able to complete its evaluation of
the repatriation provision until after the United States Congress or the Treasury Department provides
additional clarifying language on key elements of the provision.

In March 2004, the EITF issued EITF No. 03-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment
and Its Application to Certain Investments which provided new guidance for assessing impairment losses on
investments. Additionally, EITF No. 03-1 includes new disclosure requirements for investments that are
deemed to be temporarily impaired. In September 2004, the FASB delayed the accounting provisions of EITF
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No. 03-1; however the disclosure requirements remain effective for annual periods ending after June 15, 2004,
The Company is evaluating the impact of EITF No. 03-1 once final guidance is issued.

In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104
(“SAB No. 104”), Revenue Recognition, which superseded SAB No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements. The primary purpose of SAB No. 104 was to rescind the accounting guidance contained in
SAB No. 101 related to multiple element revenue arrangements, which was superseded as a result of the
issuance of EITF No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.
SAB No. 104 also incorporated certain sections of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements — Frequently Asked Questions and Answers document. While the
wording of SAB No. 104 was changed to reflect the issuance of EITF No. 00-21, the revenue recognition
principles of SAB No. 101, as applied to the Company, remain largely unchanged by the issuance of SAB No.
104. The adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. ‘

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of ARB No. 51. FIN No. 46 addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable
interest entities as defined in the interpretation. In December 2003, the FASB issued a revised Interpretation
No. 46 (“FIN No. 46R”), which expands the criteria for consideration in determining whether a variable
interest entity should be consolidated. The Company did not have any entities that required disclosure or
consolidation as a result of adopting FIN No. 46R.

3. Mergers and Acquisitions

In August 2004, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Software
Intelligence, Inc. (“Software Intelligence”), a provider of records management systems. The aggregate
purchase price of this acquisition was $1.6 million, which included issuance of 118,042 shares of the
Company’s common stock with an estimated fair value of $782,000, assumed liabilities of $693,000 and
transaction costs of $156,000. The purchase price may increase by up to $200,000 if specific software license
revenue goals are achieved are achieved during a period that ends on December 31, 2005 with such purchase
price increase payable in shares of common stock. The allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition
included purchased technology of $1.2 million, customer list of $303,000 and goodwill of $215,000 less the fair
value of assumed liabilities of $84,000. The results of operations of Software Intelligence have been included
in the results of operations of the Company since August 12, 2004.

In November 2003, the Company completed the merger with iManage, Inc. iManage provided
collaborative content management software that enables businesses to effectively manage and collaborate on
critical business content across the enterprise and its value chain of customers, partners and suppliers. In
approving the merger, the management considered a number of factors, including its opinion that combining
iManage’s collaborative content management technology will position the combined company as an enterprise
content management company with the ability to provide an end-to-end content lifecycle management
platform.

The Company paid the iManage common stockholders $1.20 in cash and 0.523575 shares of the
Company’s common stock in exchange for each share of iManage common stock outstanding as of the merger
date. The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was $181.7 million, which included cash of $30.6 million,
issuance of 13.3 million shares of common stock with an estimated fair value of $122.2 million, assumed stock
options with a fair value of $18.9 million, estimated employee severance and facilities closure costs of
$5.8 million and transaction costs of $4.2 million. The results of operations of iManage have been included in
the results of operations of the Company since November 18, 2003.
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The allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows (in
thousands):

Net tangible assets acquired . ......... ..ot $ 25,720
Customer LISt ... e 11,056
Patent and patent applications. . ......... ... i 4,032
Purchased technology . . ... oot e 24,648
In-process research and development . ...... .. ... .. ... i 4,575
Intrinsic value of stock options assumed ......... ... ... ... ... L., 7,821
GoodWill . . .. 103,858

Total pUrChase PriCe ... ... ...ttt e et $181,710

The merger was accounted for as a purchase, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of iManage were
recorded at their estimated fair values on the date of the acquisition. With the exception of goodwill, the
customer list will be amortized on a straight-line basis over four years; the patent, patent applications and the
purchased technology will be amortized on a straight-line basis over three years. The intrinsic value of stock
options assumed will be amortized on an accelerated basis over the remaining vesting periods of one to four
years. The purchase price allocated to in-process research and development and to identifiable intangible
assets was determined, in part, by a third-party valuation expert through established valuation techniques.
None of the goodwill recorded is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Approximately $4.6 million of the purchase price represents the estimated fair value of acquired in-
process research and development projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no
alternative future use. Accordingly, this amount was immediately expensed in the consolidated statement of
operations. The estimated fair values of the projects were determined using a discounted cash flow model. The
discount rate used took into consideration the stage of completion and the risks associated with the successful
development and commercialization of the purchased in-process technology project that was valued.

Unaudited Pro Forma Results of Operations

The following table presents pro forma results of operations and gives effect to the iManage acquisition as
if the acquisition was consummated at the beginning of each of the years presented. The Company’s results of
operations may have been different than those shown below if the Company had actually acquired iManage at
the beginning each year. Pro forma results below are not necessarily indicative of future operating results (in
thousands, except per share data).

Years Ended
December 31,

2003 2002
Revenue(1) ... .o e $150,765 § 168,158
Nt 108S(2) ot e $(76,702) $(172,497)
Basic and diluted earnings per share . ................... L $ (195 $ (4.52)
Weighted-average common shares and dilutive stock options
outstanding(3) . ... 39,364 38,166

(1) The pro forma results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 include the reported revenues of iManage for
the period from January 1, 2002 through November 18, 2003 in the periods iManage recognized such revenues. However, the
purchase method of accounting requires the Company to reduce iManage’s reported deferred revenue to an amount equal to the fair
value of the legal liability, resulting in lower revenue in periods following the merger than iManage would have achieved as a separate
company. Therefore, revenues from iManage products for the period from November 18, 2003 to December 31, 2003 included in the
pro forma results of operations reflect the lower amortization of deferred revenue stemming from this purchase accounting
adjustment.

(2) Pro forma net loss for 2003 includes in-process research and development costs of $4.6 million from the iManage acquisitions.
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(3) The calculations of weighted-average common shares and dilutive stock options outstanding for 2002 is calculated by multiplying the
historical iManage common shares outstanding by the exchange rate of 0.523575 and adding this amount to the historical common
shares outstanding of Interwoven, then taking into account a one-for-four reverse stock split in November 2003,

In June 2003, the Company acquired MediaBin, Inc. (“MediaBin”). MediaBin develops standards-based
enterprise brand management solutions to help companies manage, produce, share and deliver volumes of
digital assets, such as product photographs, advertisements, brochures, presentations, video clips and other
marketing collateral. The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was $12.9 million, which included cash
of $4.2 million, issuance of 700,000 shares of common stock with an estimated fair value of $6.4 million,
assumed stock options with a fair value of $683,000, estimated employee severance costs of $775,000 and
transaction costs of $899,000. The results of operations of MediaBin have been included in the consolidated
results of operations of the Company since June 27, 2003. Pro forma results of operations have not been
presented because the effect of the acquisition was not material to the Company.

The allocation of the purchase price for this acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows (in
thousands): :

Net tangible liabilities acquired. ....... ... oo i $(2,557)
Customer list......................... e e 220
Patent and patent applications. ....... ... i e 474
Purchased technology . ...... E SN 2,721
In-process research and development .. ............ R 599
GoodWiIll . .o e 11,455
Total PUrChaSE PriCE .\ oottt e e e $12,912

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of MediaBin
were recorded at their estimated fair values on the date of the acquisition. With the exception of the goodwill,
the identified intangible assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis over four years. The purchase price
allocated to in-process research and development, as well as the purchase price allocated to the identifiable
intangible assets, was determined, in part, by a third party valuation expert through established valuation
techniques. None of the goodwill recorded is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Approximately $599,000 of the purchase price represents the estimated fair value of acquired in-process
research and development projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative
future use. Accordingly, this amount was immediately expensed in the consolidated statement of operations.
The estimated fair value of the project was determined using a discounted cash flow model. The discount rate
used took into consideration the stage of completion and the risks surrounding the successful development and
commercialization of the purchased in-process technology project that was valued.

59




INTERWOVEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
4. Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

The following is a summary of the Company’s investments (in thousands):
December 31, 2004

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Cash. ..o $ 11,724 $— $ — $ 11,724

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds .................. ... 10,742 = — 10,742

Total cash equivalents ................... 10,742 = — 10,742

Total cash and cash equivalents ............. 22,466 — — 22,466
Short-term investments:

Government agencies . . .................... 68,055 1 (213) 67,843

Commercial paper ...........cccvuvveeennns 6,383 — (2) 6,381

Market auction preferred................... 32,490 — — 32,490

Corporate obligations . ..................... 4,602 o (25) 4,577

Total short-term investments ............. 111,530 1 (240) 111,291

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term

INVESTMENtS . ..o e e et $133,996 $1 $(240)  $133,757
December 31, 2003
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Cash. ... e $ 14,163 $— $ — $ 14,163
Cash equivalents:
Government agencies . ..................... 999 — — 999
Commercial paper ..............ooveunen.. 4,995 — — 4,995
Money market funds ...................... 9,904 = —_ 9,904
Total cash equivalents ................... 15,898 - — 15,898
Total cash and cash equivalents ............. 30,061 = — 30,061
Short-term investments:
Government agencies . .. ...........oveun.... 43,065 22 (13) 43,074
Market auction preferred................... 19,715 — —_ 19,715
Corporate obligations .. .................... 26,170 18 (2) 26,186
Certificates of deposit ..................... 21,451 - —_ 21,451
Total short-term investments ............. 110,401 _40 (15) 110,426
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
INVESTMENTS .. ..ot tiie e erennn $140,462 $40 $(15) $140,487

At December 31, 2004, the Company began to classify investment in auction-rate securities as short-term
investments. These investments were included in cash equivalents in previous years and such amounts have
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been reclassified for all periods presented in the accompanying financial statements to conform to the current
year classification. This change in classification had no effect on the amounts of total current assets, total
assets, net loss or cash flows from operations of the Company.

In accordance with EITF No. 03-1, the following table summarizes the fair value and gross unrealized
losses related to available-for-sale securities, aggregated by investment category and length of time that
individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at December 31, 2004:

Less than 12 Months More than 12 Months Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
_ Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Government agencies . . .. .. $36,502 $(131)  $35910 $(81)  $72,412 $(212)
Commercial paper ....... . 452 ) 1,000 (2) 1,452 (3)
Corporate obligations . .. ... 3,775 (20) 761 (5) 4,536 (25)

$40,729 $(152)  $37,671 $(88)  $78,400 $(240)

Market values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. The declines in
value of these investments are primarily related to changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary
in nature.

The following table summarized the cost and estimated fair value of the Company’s cash equivalents and
short-term investments by contractual maturity at December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

. Cost Fair Value
Due withinone year ........................... PR $ 69,211 § 69,015
Due one year t0 fiVe YEAIS .. ...\ttt it 22,611 22,568
Due five years to ten Years . ... ....uuuitt it e 1,350 1,350
Due after ten years .. ........ ittt e 29,100 29,100

$122,272  $122,033

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

. 2004 2003
Computer software and equipment ................ciuiiiiiiinnrenans $28,442  $27,005
Furniture and office equipment ............ . ... .. . ... i 3,773 3,939
Leasehold improvements . . ... ... o i e 10,604 ‘ 10,026
' 42,819 40,970
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization................. ... ... 36,988 33,567

$ 5831 § 7,403

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, Depreciation
and amortization are computed using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of computer
software and equipment are three years. The estimated useful lives of furniture and office equipment are three
to five years. Amortization of leasehold improvements is computed using the shorter of the remaining facility
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lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvements. Depreciation expense was $4.3 million,
$6.3 million and $8.6 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The carrving amount of the goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as
follows (in thousands):

2004 2003
Gross Carrying  Accumulated Net Gross Carrying Accumulated Net

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Purchased technology . ... $ 34,971 $ (16,344) §$ 18,627 $ 33,343 $ (5,809) $ 27,534
Patents and patent

applications . .......... 4,506 (1,690) 2,816 4,506 (227) 4279

Customer list ........... 11,581 (3,221) 8,360 11,277 (373) 10,904

Acquired workforce ... ... 464 (232) 232 417 — 417

Non-compete agreements 6,929 (6,929) — 6,929 (6,929) —

Other intangible assets. . 58,451 (28,416) 30,035 56,472 (13,338) 43,134

Goodwill ............... 367,035 (181,571) 185,464 367,562 (181,571) 185,991

$425,486 $(209,987) $215,499 $424,034 $(194,909) $229,125

Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are amortized over estimated useful lives of between 12 and
48 months. The aggregate amortization expense of intangible assets was $15.2 million, $4.3 million and
$3.7 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Of the $15.2 million amortization of intangible assets
recorded in 2004, $4.5 million was recorded in operating expenses and $10.7 million was recorded in cost of
revenues. Of the $4.3 million amortization of intangible assets recorded in 2003, $2.3 million was recorded in
operating expenses and $2.0 million was recorded in cost of revenues. Of the $3.7 amortization of intangible
assets recorded in 2002, it was all recorded in operating expenses. Included in amortization expense recorded
as a component of cost of revenues was $100,000 and $567,000 in 2004 and 2003, respectively, relating to the
fair value assigned to certain iManage customer contracts in process at the time of the business combination,
which were recorded as prepaid expenses. The estimated aggregate amortization expense of acquired
intangible assets is expected to be $14.1 million in 2005, $12.6 million in 2006, $3.3 million in 2007 and
$48,000 in 2008.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002 and, as a result, ceased to amortize
goodwill at that time. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for 2004 and 2003 are as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

' 2004 2003
Beginning balance ............. ... $185,991 § 70,564
Goodwill recorded in business combinations. .......... .. ... ... 215 115,313
Subsequent goodwill adjustments.................. i, (742) - 114
Ending Balance ... ........vuuuni it e $185,464 $185,991
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7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

2004 2003
Accrued COMPENSAON ... ...ttt e $11,694 $13,939
Professional SeIVICES . .. ..o v ittt e e 1,996 736
Accrued acquisition COSES ... ...ttt e 152 1,416
Deferred rent .. ... e 4,056 2,508
Sales and iNCOME TAXES . .« .o« v vve et e e e e e 2,545 2,189
Other . 3,340 4,129

$23,783  $24917

8. Restructuring and Excess Facilities

The Company implemented a series of restructuring and facility consolidation plans to improve operating
performance. Restructuring and facilities consolidation costs consist of workforce reductions, the consolidation
of excess facilities and the impairment of leasehold improvements and other equipment associated with
abandoned facilities.

Workforce Reductions

In 2002, the Company implemented restructuring plans in an effort to better align its expenses and
revenues. These cost saving efforts resulted in the termination of 304 employees worldwide, across all
functional areas. The Company recorded charges of $8.1 million associated with involuntary terminations,
which included severance costs and deferred compensation charges associated with accelerated vesting of
stock awards. The workforce reductions associated with these plans were substantially complete as of
December 31, 2002.

In 2003, the Company implemented additional restructuring plans. These cost saving efforts resulted in
the termination of 120 employees worldwide, across all functional areas. The Company recorded charges of
$5.7 million associated with these involuntary terminations, which included severance costs. The workforce
reductions associated with these plans were substantially completed as of December 31, 2003.

In 2004, the Company implemented a restructuring plan in certain of its European locations, and within
its professional services organization to better align its expenses with expected future revenues, These actions
resulted in the termination of 28 employees and, as a result, the Company recorded a charge of $1.7 million
associated with these workforce reductions. The employee terminations were substantially completed by year-
end and $656,000 remained accrued at December 31, 2004.

Excess Facilities

In 2002, as a result of staff reductions, the Company performed an evaluation of its current facilities
requirements and identified facilities that were in excess of current and estimated future needs. As a result of
this analysis, the Company recorded $24.1 million in lease abandonment charges associated with excess
facilities, which consisted primarily of domestic sales offices. It also evaluated operating equipment and
leasehold improvements that had suffered a reduction in their economic useful lives. Based on these
evaluations, the Company incurred charges of $1.2 million associated with the impairment of leasehold
improvements and certain operating equipment. Additionally, due to the deterioration of the commercial real
estate market, the Company revised its assumptions regarding future sublease income for certain facilities
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previously abandoned in 2001. As a result, the Company reduced its estimates of future sublease income and
recorded an additional $4.7 million in charges to reflect this change in estimate.

In 2003, the Company performed an evaluation of its current facilities requirements and identified
additional facilities that were in excess of current and estimated future needs. As a result of this analysis, the
Company recorded $9.8 million in lease abandonment charges associated with identified excess facilities,
which primarily consisted of facilities in the United States. Additionally, due to continued deterioration in the
commercial real estate market, after receiving independent appraisals from real estate brokers, the Company
revised its assumptions regarding future estimated sublease income for certain facilities previously abandoned.
As a result, the Company recorded an additional $2.8 million in charges to reflect this change in estimate.

In 2004, the Company continued its ongoing evaluation of excess facilities. As a result, the Company
further revised its sublease assumptions associated with certain of its excess facilities, abandoned a leased
facility in Germany and elected to terminate a portion of its headquarters lease in Sunnyvale, California and a
lease in Chicago, Illinois. As a result of these actions, the Company recorded a charge of $8.1 million.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $25.0 million accrued for excess facilities, which is payable
through 2010. This accrual is net of estimated future sublease income of $3.3 million. The facilities costs were
estimated as of December 31, 2004. The Company reassesses this estimated liability each period based on
current real estate market conditions. Most of the Company’s excess facilities have been subleased at rates
below those the Company is required to pay under its lease agreements. Those facilities that are not subleased
are being marketed for sublease and are currently unoccupied. Accordingly, the estimate of excess facilities
costs could differ from actual results and such differences could result in additional charges that could
materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

The restructuring costs and excess facilities charges have had a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations and will require additional payments in future periods. The following table
summarizes the estimated payments, net of estimated sublease income and the impact of discounting,
associated with these charges (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

Work Force Excess

Reduction Facilities Total
200S . $656 $ 8375 $ 9,031
2006 ... e e — 7,495 7,495
2007 e e — 5,875 5,875
2008 . e e e — 1,612 1,612
2000 L e — 1,196 1,196
Thereafter. .. ... ..o i e — 956 956

656 25,509 26,165

Present value discount of future lease payments ............. — (483) (483)

$656 $25,026  $25,682
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The following table summarizes the activity in the restructuring and excess facilities accrual (in
thousands):

Write-Down of

Non-Cancelable Leasehold
Lease Improvement
Work Force Commitments and Operating
Cost and Other Equipment Total
Balance at January 1, 2002 ............ $8 — $15,877 $ - $15,877
Restructuring and excess facilities charges 8,110 28,768 1,206 38,084
Deferred rent reclassifications .......... — ' 752 — 752
Non-cash charges .................... (1,575) -_ (1,206) (2,781)
Cash payments. ..............cc.on... (5,493) (7,709) — (13,202)
Balance at December 31, 2002 ......... 1,042 37,688 — 38,730
Restructuring and excess facilities charges 5,748 13,065 — 18,813
Accrual recorded with iManage
ACqUISIION ........ ... i 2,622 3,128 — 5,750
Deferred rent reclassifications .......... — 759 — 759
Cash payments....................... (6,761) (11,172) — {17,933)
Balance at December 31, 2003 ......... 2,651 T 43,468 — 46,119
Restructuring and excess facilities charges 1,654 8,128 — 9,782
Cash payments and others ...... . (3,645) (26,570) — (30,219)
Balance at December 31, 2004 ......... $ 656 $25,026 3 — $25,682

9. Bank Borrowings

In August 2001, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement with a financial institution, which
was subsequently amended in June 2004, The amended line of credit provides for borrowings up to
$16.0 million. Borrowings under the line of credit agreement are secured by cash, cash equivalents and
investments. The line of credit bears interest at the lower of 1% below the bank’s prime rate (5.25% at
December 31, 2004) or 1.53% above LIBOR in effect on the first day of the term. The line of credit expires in
July 2005 and is primarily used as collateral for letters of credit required by facilities leases. There are no
financial covenant requirements associated with the line of credit. At December 31, 2004, there were no
borrowings under this line of credit agreement.

In connection with the iManage merger, the Company assumed a term loan with a bank secured by
certain of its property and equipment. At December 31, 2003, the amount outstanding under the term loan
was $1.2 million. The term loan was paid in full in December 2004,

10. Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others an Interpretation of FASB State-
ments No. 5, 57 and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34. FIN No. 45 requires that a guarantor
recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken by issuing
the guarantee. It also requires additional disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual
financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees it has issued. The following is a summary of
the agreements that the Company has determined is within the scope of FIN No. 45.
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The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business.
Pursuant to these agreements, the Company indemnifies, holds harmless, and agrees to reimburse the
indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party — generally, the Company’s
business partners, subsidiaries and/or customers, in connection with any United States patent or any copyright
or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third-party with respect to the Company’s products or
services. The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after execution of the
agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make
under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. The Company has not incurred significant costs to
defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements and does not expect the liability to
be material.

The Company generally warrants that its software products will perform in all material respects in
accordance with the Company’s standard published specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the
licensed products to the customer. Additionally, the Company warrants that its support and services will be
performed consistent with generally accepted industry standards. If necessary, the Company would provide for
the estimated cost of product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history. The
Company has not incurred significant expense under its product or services warranties.

The Company may, at its discretion and in the ordinary course of business, subcontract the performance
of any of its services. Accordingly, the Company enters into standard indemnification agreements with its
customers, whereby customers are indemnified for other acts, such as personal property damage, of the
Company’s subcontractors. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be
required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. However, the Company has general
and umbrella insurance policies that enable it to recover a portion of any amounts paid. The Company has not
incurred significant costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. As a
result, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these agreements is not significant. Accordingly, the
Company has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2004.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its main office facilities in Sunnyvale, California and various sales offices in North
America, Europe and Asia Pacific under non-cancelable operating leases, which expire at various times
through July 2016. Rent expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $9.8 million, $11.5 million and $15.6 million,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases, as of December 31, 2004, are as
follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31,

Future

Occupied Excess Lease
Facilities Facilities Payments
200 L $ 9251 §$ 7815 $17,066
2006 .. 8,349 7,332 15,681
2007 . 4,932 5,498 10,430
2008 L e 736 1,991 2,727
2009 .. 691 1,258 1,949
Thereafter . ... .o 5,091 1,049 6,140

$29,050  $24943  $53,993
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Of these future minimum lease payments, the Company has accrued $25.0 million in the restructuring
and excess facilities accrual at December 31, 2004. This accrual also includes estimated operating expenses of
$3.9 million and sublease commencement costs associated with excess facilities and is net of estimated
sublease income of $3.3 million and a present value discount of $483,000.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had $12.2 million outstanding under standby letters of credit with
financial institutions. These letter of credit agreements are associated the Company’s operating lease
commitments for its facilities and expire at various times through 2016.

Beginning 2001, Interwoven and certain of its officers and directors and certain investment banking firms,
were separately named as defendants in a securities class-action lawsuit filed in the United States District
Court Southern District of New York, which was subsequently consolidated with more than 300 substantially
identical proceedings against other companies. Similar suits were named against iManage, its directors and
certain of its officers. The consolidated complaint asserts that the prospectuses for the Interwoven’s October 8,
1999 initial public offering and January 26, 2000 follow-on public offering and iManage’s November 17, 1999
initial public offering failed to disclose certain alleged actions by the underwriters for the offerings. In addition,
the consolidated complaint alleges claims under Section 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 against
Interwoven and iManage and certain officers and directors of Interwoven and iManage. The plaintiff seeks
damages in an unspecified amount. In June 2003, following the dismissal of Interwoven’s and iManage’s
respective officers and directors from the litigation without prejudice and after several months of negotiation,
the plaintiffs named in the consolidated complaint and Interwoven and iManage, together with the other
issuers named there under and their respective insurance carriers, agreed to settle the litigation and dispose of
any remaining claims against the issuers named in the consolidated complaint, in each case without admitting
any wrongdoing. As part of this settlement, the respective insurance carriers of Interwoven and iManage have
agreed to assume Interwoven’s and iManage’s entire payment obligation under the terms of the settlement.
This settlement has been preliminarily approved by the District Court and will be presented to members of the
putative plaintiff classes in the coming months. The Company cannot be reasonably assured, however, that the
settlement will be approved by the putative plaintiff classes or finally approved the District Court.

On August 6, 2004, Advanced Software, Inc. filed suit against the Company in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California alleging that its TeamSite software infringes Advanced
Software’s United States Patent No. Re. 35,861, Advanced Software seeks damages in an unspecified amount.
The Company believes that the claim is without merit and intends to vigorously contest this matter. Although
the Company cannot currently estimate whether there will be a loss, or the size of any loss, a litigation
outcome unfavorable to the Company could have a material impact on Interwoven’s consolidated financial
position and results of operation. In addition, intellectual property litigation is inherently uncertain and,
regardless of the ultimate outcome, could be costly and time-consuming to defend, cause the Company to
cease making, licensing or using products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property, require the
Company to redesign or reengineer its products, if feasible, divert management’s attention or resources, or
cause product delays, or require the Company to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to obtain the right
to use a necessary product, component or process; any of which could have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operation. Discovery is still in its preliminary stages.
Trial has been set for April 17, 2006.

In addition to the matter mentioned above, the Company has been named as a defendant in various
employment-related lawsuits and as a party to other threatened legal actions that have arisen in the normal
course of business. In the opinion of management, the resolution of these matters is not expected to have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows or its financial
position. However, depending on the amount and timing, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could
materially affect the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a particular period.
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12. Stoeckholders’ Equity
Preferved Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5.0 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per
share. Preferred stock may be issued from time-to-time in one or more series. The Board of Directors is
authorized to provide for the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of the shares of such series. As of
December 31, 2004, no shares of preferred stock had been issued.

Common Stock

The Company has authorized 125.0 million shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share.
Each share of common stock has the right to one vote. The holders of common stock are also entitled to
receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to
the rights of holders of all classes of stock having priority rights as to dividends. No cash dividends have been
declared or paid through December 31, 2004.

Reverse Stock Split

On November 18§, 2003, the Company effected a one-for-four reverse stock split. All share and per share
information included in these consolidated financial statements has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
reverse stock split.

Stock Repurchase Program

In September 2001, the Board of Directors approved a program to repurchase up to $25.0 million of the
Company’s common stock in the open market. During 2001, the Company repurchased 207,000 shares of
common stock at a cost of $3.6 million. During 2002, the Company repurchased 875,000 shares of common
stock at a cost of $10.1 million. At December 31, 2004, $11.3 million remained available under the program to
repurchase additional shares.

In December 2002, the Board of Directors approved the retirement of the common stock reacquired
under the stock repurchase program, which was held as treasury stock. Accordingly, all 1.1 million shares of

treasury stock were retired.

Employee Stock Option Plans
At December 31, 2004, the Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan and five stock option plans.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) and
reserved 300,000 shares of common stock for issuance there under. Each January 1, the aggregate number of
shares reserved for issuance under this plan will increase automatically by a number of shares equal to 1% of
the Company’s outstanding shares on December 31 of the preceding year. The aggregate number of shares
reserved for issuance under this plan shall not exceed 3.0 million shares. Employees generally will be eligible
to participate in this plan if they are employed by the Company for more than 20 hours per week and more
than five months in a calendar year and are not (and would not become as a result of being granted an option
under this plan) 5% stockholders of the Company. Under this plan, eligible employees may select a rate of
payroll deduction between 1% and 15% of their cash compensation subject to certain maximum purchase
limitations. Each offering period will have a maximum duration of two years and consists of four six-month
purchase periods. Offering periods and purchase periods begin on May 1 and November 1. The price at which
the common stock is purchased under the ESPP is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the Company’s
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common stock on the first day of the applicable offering period or on the last day of that purchase period. This
plan will terminate after a period of ten years unless terminated earlier. A total of approximately 329,000,
131,000 and 386,000 shares of common stock were issued under the ESPP in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, at an average price of $6.65, $6.43 and $10.96 per share in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, 283,000 shares were available for issuance.

Prior Stock Option Plans

The Company’s 1996 Stock Option Plan and 1998 Stock Option Plan provide for the issuance of options
to acquire 3,766,666 shares of common stock. These plans provide for the grant of incentive stock options to
employees and nonqualified stock options to employees, directors and other eligible participants. Options
granted under these plans vest at variable rates, typically four years, determined by the Board of Directors and
remain exercisable for a period not to exceed ten years. All of the shares of common stock that were available
for issuance and not subject to outstanding awards under the plans when the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan
became effective, became available for issuance under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. Options are no longer
granted under these plans.

1999 Equity Incentive Plan

In September 1999, the Company adopted and stockholders approved the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan
and reserved 2.9 million shares of common stock for issuance there under. The 1999 Equity Incentive Plan
authorized the award of options, restricted stock awards and stock bonuses. No person will be eligible to
receive more than 1.0 million shares in any calendar year pursuant to awards under this plan other than a new
employee who will be eligible to receive no more than 1.5 million shares in the calendar year in which such
employee commences employment. Options granted under this plan may be either incentive stock options or
nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock options may be granted only to Company employees (including
officers and directors who are also employees). Non-qualified stock options may be granted to employees,
officers, directors, consultants, independent contractors and advisors of the Company.

Options under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years and at prices
no less than 85% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant as determined by the Board of
Directors, provided, however, that (i) the exercise price of an incentive stock option may not be less than
100% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, and (ii) the exercise price of an incentive
stock option granted to a 10% stockholder may not be less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the shares
on the date of grant.

Members of the Board of Directors, who are not employees of the Company, or any parent, subsidiary or
affiliate of the Company, are eligible to participate in the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. The option grants under
this plan are automatic and nondiscretionary, and the exercise price of the options must be 100% of the fair
market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Each eligible director will initially be granted an
option to purchase 10,000 shares on the date of election to the Board of Directors. Immediately following each
annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, each eligible director will automatically be granted an
additional option to purchase 10,000 shares if such director has served continuously as a member of the Board
of Directors since the date of such director’s initial grant or, if such director was ineligible to receive an initial
grant. The term of such options is ten years, provided that they will terminate three months following the date
the director ceases to be a director of the Company (12 months if the termination is due to death or
disability). All options granted to directors under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan vest 100% upon the date of
issuance.
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2000 Stock Incentive Plan

In May 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and reserved 1.0 million shares of
common stock for issuance there under. The 2000 Stock Incentive Plan authorized the award of options and
restricted stock awards. Only nonqualified stock options will be granted under this plan. Nonqualified stock
options may be granted to employees, officers, directors, consultants, independent contractors and advisors of
the Company. Awards granted to officers of the Company may not exceed the aggregate of 40% of all shares
that are reserved for grant. Awards granted as restricted stock to officers of the Company may not exceed the
aggregate of 40% of all shares that are granted as restricted stock.

Options under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years and at prices
no less than par value of the shares on the date of grant. Restricted stock under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
may be granted at prices no less than par value of the shares on the date of grant.

2003 Acquisition Plan

In connection with the Company’s merger with iManage in November 2003, the Company adopted the
2003 Acquisition Plan and reserved 503,000 shares of common stock for issuance there under, as permitted by
the Marketplace Rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. The 2003 Acquisition Plan
authorized the award of options. Only nonqualified stock options are granted under this plan. Nonqualified
stock options may be granted to any employee, officer, director, consultant, independent contractor or advisor
of the Company who provided services to iManage immediately prior to the merger. Options under the 2003
Acquisition Plan may be granted for periods of up to ten years and at prices no less than the fair market value
of the shares on the date of grant.

Stock Option Exchange Program

Prior to 2002, the Company provided its option holders with an opportunity to exchange all or a part of
their existing options for a smaller number of options, with a new exercise price and a new vesting schedule.
The Company accounts for the exchanged options as a variable option plan whereby the accounting charge for
these options will be reassessed and reflected in the consolidated statement of operations for each reporting
period. As the exercise price of the exchanged options is higher than the market price of the Company’s
common stock during 2002, 2003 and 2004, no compensation expense was required to be recognized.
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Plan Activity

Activity under the Company’s stock option plans is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding, beginning of period.. 9,925  $25.83 6,467  $44.80 7,338 $57.84
Granted....................... 3,819 $10.12 2,355 $15.51 2,255 $16.60
Assumed...................... —_ — 3,100 $ 6.54 — —
Canceled . ..........ccccvvnn, (2,245)  $29.65  (1,771) $42.18  (2,900) $58.20
Exercised ..................... (632) § 595 (226) $ 6.95 (226) § 6.24
Outstanding, end of period . ... ... 10,867 $20.58 9,925 $25.83 6,467 $44.80

Exercisable, end of period ....... 6,117 5,683 3,225

Weighted average fair value of
options granted with exercise
prices equal to fair value at date
ofgrant..................... 3,819 § 7.23 2,355 $ 694 2,255 $9.81

Weighted average fair value of
options granted with exercise
prices less than fair value at
date of grant................. — % — 500 $10.78 - § —

The following table summarizes information about stock options as of December 31, 2004 (number of
options in thousands):

Options Outstanding

Weighted Options Exercisable
Average Weighted Weighted

Number Remaining Average Number Average

of Contractual Exercise of Exercise

Exercise Prices Options Life (Years) Price Options Price
$ 018to% 637 ... 1,585 6.49 $ 436 1,339 § 453
$ 660to$ 880 ... ... 1,526 8.58 $ 7.48 729§ 7.21
$ 883to$ 883 ... 1,647 9.47 $ 883 208 $ 8283
$ 907t08 1176 .................. 1,374 8.72 $ 10.05 518 $ 10.34
$1192t08% 1372 .. ... 1,481 8.54 $ 13.56 536 $ 13.49
$1400t0$ 3896 .................. 1,379 7.09 $ 19.75 935 $ 20.24
$4275t08 16250 ... ..., 1,868 5.12 $ 68.31 1,845 $ 68.40
$179.32 to $1,116.28 .................. 7 4.87 $250.02 7 $250.02
10,867 7.64 $ 20.58 6,117 $ 28.22

Shares reserved for future issuance under the Company’s Stock Option Plans were 1.8 million as of
December 31, 2004. Stock options issued under the Company’s stock option plans generally vest over a 4 year
period. Vesting for certain options issued under the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan may accelerate upon the
achievement of performance milestones.
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Stock-based Compensation

The Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation in connection with stock options granted
prior to its initial public offering, certain stock options grants and stock options assumed in business
combinations. Amortization of stock-based compensation was $5.0 million, $2.3 million and $4.9 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. Stock-based compensation charges relate to the following expense
classifications in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Cost of support and service revenues .................c.oou.a.... $ 319 § 57 § 118
Sales and marketing . ... .. i 1,708 957 2,872
Research and development ........... ... ..., 1,049 1,157 1,632
General and administrative .............. .. .. ... i 1,906 177 258

$4,982  $2,348  $4,880

In December 2003, the Company issued 500,000 options to purchase its common stock to the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, with an exercise price of $9.56 per share, which was below the fair value of the
Company’s common stock of $13.41 on the date of grant. In accordance with the requirements of APB
No. 25, the Company has recorded deferred stock-based compensation of $1.9 million for the difference
between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of its stock on the date of grant. This deferred
stock-based compensation would be amortized to expense over a four-year term using an accelerated
approach.

In 2002, the Company recognized restructuring costs of $1.6 million associated with accelerated vesting
of stock awards of terminated employees. This amount was included as a component of restructuring and
excess facilities charges in the consolidated statements of operations.

Amortization of stock-based compensation will be reduced in future periods to the extent options are
terminated prior to full vesting.
13. Interest Income and Other

Interest income and other consisted of the following (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Interest iNCOIME .. ..ottt e e e $1,962 $2,471 $4,452
Interest EXPeMSE. . oottt e (43) (12) —_
Foreign currency gain (loss) .......... ... i, (73) 943 1,659
Other .. e (121) (1) (153)

$1,725 $3,401  $5,958

Cash paid for interest expense was $37,000, $11,000 and none in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The components of loss before provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
United States. . ...t $(24,021) $(48,187) $(149,788)
Foreign . ... 1,340 1,727 2,249

$(22,681) $(46,460) $(147,539)

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Current:
3 2 $107 § 121 $ 140
Foreign . ... 879 950 937

$986  $1,071  $1,077

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal

income tax rate as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate of 34% .......... $(7.711) $(15,796) $(50,163)
State taxes, net of federal benefits .. ...................... 71 80 93
Non-deductible intangible assets.......................... 184 221 26,895
Amortization of stock-based compensation ................. 1,180 741 1,627
In-process research and development . ..................... — 1,759 —
Tax credit. .. ... . (128) (71) (781)
Timing differences not currently benefited.................. 6,448 13,764 23,386
Other 942 373 20

$ 98 $§ 1,071 § 1,077

United States income taxes and foreign withholding taxes were not provided for the undistributed

earnings for all non-United States subsidiaries. The Company intends to reinvest these earnings indefinitely in
operations outside of the United States. Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences
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between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. The components of the net deferred income tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards ........... .. ..., $ 90,057 $ 84,998
Deferred revenues . .......oiri it e 1,543 1,820
Restructuring and excess facilities charges .............. ... .. .. 9,721 16,492
Accrued liabilities and allowances ............... ... vuienn... 4,609 5,447
Tax credit carryforwards . ......... ... i 13,836 10,325
Depreciation and amortization ............. . ..., 17,307 10,920
Valuation allowance .. ....... ... i (126,485) (114,377)
10,588 15,625
Deferred tax liabilities:
Non-deductible intangible assets ............ ... ... i, (10,588) (15,625)
$ — 3 —

As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s federal and California net operating loss carryforwards for
income tax purposes were approximately $254.0 million and $63.1 million, respectively. If not utilized, the
federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2008 through 2024, and the California net
operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2005 through 2014. Under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the
amounts of and benefits from net operating loss carryforwards may be impaired or limited in certain
circumstances. Events which cause limitations in the amount of net operating loss that the Company may
utilize in any one year include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50%, as
defined, over a three-year period. The Company’s federal and California research tax credit carryforwards for
income tax purposes are approximately $10.2 million and $4.6 million, respectively. If not utilized, the federal
research tax credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2008.

Deferred tax assets of approximately $24.7 million as of December 31, 2004 pertain to certain net
operating loss and research credit carryforwards resulting from the exercises and disqualifying dispositions of
employee stock options. As management believes that it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets
will not be fully realizable, a full valuation allowance has been recorded. When recognized, the tax benefits of
these loss carryforwards will be accounted for as a credit to additional paid-in capital rather than a reduction of
the income tax provision.

In connection with the Company’s acquisitions, deferred tax assets of approximately $48.6 million were
recorded. When recognized, the tax benefits of such deferred tax assets will be applied, first, to reduce to zero
any goodwill related to these acquisitions; second, to reduce to zero other non-current intangible assets related
to these acquisitions; and third, to reduce income tax expense.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company has incurred losses in each year since its inception. Based
on the available objective evidence, management believes that it is more likely than not that the net deferred
tax assets will not be fully realizable. Accordingly, the Company has provided for a valuation allowance
against its net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. The net change in the total valuation
allowance for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was an increase of $12.1 million,
$33.0 million, and $28.1 million respectively.
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15. Significant Customer Information and Segment Reporting

The Company has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information, which establishes standards for the manner in which public companies report
information about operating segments in annual and interim financial statements. It also establishes standards
for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. The method for
determining the information to report is based on the way management organizes the operating segments
within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company’s chief operating decision-maker is considered to be the Chief Executive Officer. The
Chief Executive Officer reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by
disaggregated information about revenues by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing financial performance. On this basis, the Company is organized and operates in a single segment: the
design, development and marketing of software solutions.

The following table presents geographic information (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Revenues:
United States. ..o i e e e $105,323  § 71,753 § 83,304
International .. ........ . .. ... 55,065 39,759 43,528

$160,388  $111,512  $126,832

December 31,

2004 2003
Long-lived assets (excluding goodwill):
United States . ..o e $35,248  $49,624
International ... ... ... e 618 913

$35,866  $50,537

The Company’s revenues are derived from software licenses, comsulting and training services and
customer support. It is impracticable to disaggregate software license revenue by product. The Company’s
disaggregated revenue information is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
LCenSe . .. e $ 67,341 $ 45936 $ 57,309
CUSLOMET SUPPOTIT . ..ottt et e e e 65,219 42,406 39,768
Consulting . ... i 23,553 19,028 24,120
Training . ... 4,275 4,142 5,635

$160,388  $111,512  $126,832
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INTERWOVEN, INC.

By: /s/  MARTIN W. BRAUNS

Martin W. Brauns
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Date: March 15, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K
has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates. indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ MARTIN W. BRAUNS President, Chief Executive Officer and  March 15, 2005
Martin W. Brauns Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ JOHN E. CALONICO, JR. Senior Vice President and Chief March 15, 2005
John E. Calonico, Jr. Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer)
/s/ RONALD E.F. CODD Director March 15, 2005
Ronald E.F. Codd
/s/ BOB L. COREY Director March 15, 2005
Bob L. Corey
/s/ FRANK J. FANZILLI, JR. Director March 15, 2005
Frank J. Fanzilli, Jr.
/s/ THOMAS L. THOMAS Director March 15, 2005
Thomas L. Thomas '
/s/ ANTHONY ZINGALE Director March 15, 2005

Anthony Zingale
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Number

2.01

3.01

3.02
4.01
10.01

10.02*
10.03*
10.04*
10.05*

10.06*
10.07*

10.08*
10.09*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12%
10.13

10.14*
10.15%

10.16*

10.17*
10.18%%
10.19*

INTERWOVEN, INC.

EXHIBITS TO FORM 10-K ANNUAL REPORT
For the year ended December 31, 2004

Exhibit Title

Merger Agreement dated August 6, 2003, by and
among Registrant, iManage, Inc. and Mahogany
Acquisition Corporation

Registrant’s Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation

Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws
Form of Certificate for Registrant’s common stock

Form of Indemnity Agreement between Registrant and
each of its directors and executive officers

1996 Stock Option Plan and related agreements
1998 Stock Option Plan and related agreements
1999 Equity Incentive Plan

Forms of Option Agreements and Stock Option
Exercise Agreements related to the 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan

1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Forms of Enrollment Form, Subscription Agreement,
Notice of Withdrawal and Notice of Suspension
related to the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
2000 Stock Incentive Plan

Forms of Stock Option Agreement and Stock Option
Exercise Agreements related to the 2000 Stock
Incentive Plan

Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and
Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under iManage,
Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan

iManage, Inc. 2000 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan
and related forms of stock option and option exercise
agreements

2003 Acquisition Plan and related forms of stock
option and option exercise agreement

Regional Prototype Profit Sharing Plan and Trust/
Account Standard Plan Adoption Agreement AA #001

Description of Director Compensation

Employment Agreement between Registrant and
Martin W. Brauns dated February 27, 1998

Employment arrangement between Registrant and
Martin W. Brauns

Compensatory Arrangements with Executive Officers
2005 Executive Officer Incentive Bonus Plan

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Stock Option
Agreement between Registrant and each of the officers
identified in this exhibit
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Form

8-K

S-8
10-K
S-1

S-1
S-1

S-8

S-8

S-1

10-Q

10-Q

Date

Number

Filed
Herewith

08/08/03

11/19/03

06/20/01
09/23/99
07/27/99

07/27/99
07/27/99
01/24/01
09/03/99

01/24/01
09/03/99

09/26/00
06/22/00

11/19/03
11/19/03

11/19/03

07/27/99

07/27/99

08/13/03

11/13/02

2.01

4.08

3.03
4.01
10.01

10.02
10.03

4.01
10.04

4.03
10.05

4.01
4.03

4.02

4.03

4.07

10.06

10.07

10.04

10.01
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Filed
Number Exhibit Title Form Date Number Herewith
10.20% Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option 10-Q 08/13/03 10.01
Agreement and related Stock Option Agreement
between Registrant and each of the officers identified
in the exhibit
10.21* Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option 10-Q 08/13/03 10.02
Agreement and related Stock Option Agreement
between Martin W, Brauns
10.22+%% Preferred Stock Warrant to Purchase Shares of S-1  09/03/99 10.25
Series E Preferred Stock of Registrant
10.23 Ariba Plaza Sublease dated June 28, 2001 between 10-Q 08/14/01 10.01
Registrant and Ariba, Inc.
10.24 Amended and Restated Ariba Plaza Sublease dated 10-Q 11/14/01 10.01
August 6, 2001 between Registrant and Ariba, Inc.
10.25 Amended and Restated First Amendment to Amended  10-Q 11/08/04 10.01
and Restated Sublease dated May 6, 2001 between
Registrant and Ariba, Inc.
10.26 Office Lease for 303 East Wacker, Chicago, Illinois (0 (1) (D)
between 303 Wacker Realty LLC and iManage, Inc.
dated March, 17, 2003
10.27 First Amendment to Lease dated November 12, 2003 : X
between iManage, Inc. and 303 Wacker Realty LLC
10.28 Sublease between Hyperion Solutions Corporation and (2) 2) (2)
iManage, Inc. dated January 17, 2002
10.29 Revolving Line of Credit Note dated August 2, 2001, 10-Q 08/14/01 10.02
between Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank
10.30 Amendment to Line of Credit Agreement dated 10-Q 11/08/04 10.02
June 1, 2004 between Registrant and Wells Fargo
Bank
21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registrant X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting X
Firm
31.01 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-15(a) certification of the Chief X
Executive Officer
31.02 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-15(a) certification of the Chief X
Financial Officer
32.01 Section 1350 certification of Chief Executive Officer X
32.02 Section 1350 certification of the Chief Financial X
Officer
(1) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of the iManage, Inc. Annual Report Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 26,
2003.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the iManage, Inc. Annual Report Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 29,
2002.

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

1 Confidential treatment has been requested with regard to certain portions of this document. Such portions were filed separately with
the Commission.

11 Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to an order granting confidential treatment.
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